
By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you have saved the Authority approx. £2.39 in printing costs 

 
This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

 

 

 
 

  
COUNCIL SUMMONS 
 

THURSDAY, 21 MAY 2020 
 

GWYS Y CYNGOR 
 
 
 

DYDD IAU, 21 MAI 2020,  
 

 
 
 
You are summoned to attend a meeting of the COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE CITY AND 
COUNTY OF CARDIFF which will be held remotely on Thursday, 21 May 2020 at 4.30 pm 
to transact the business set out in the agenda attached. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Davina Fiore 
Director of Governance & Legal Services 
 

County Hall 
Cardiff 
CF10 4UW 
 

 Friday, 15 May 2020 
 

 



By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you have saved the Authority approx. £2.39 in printing costs 

 
This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

 

RECORDING OF MEETING  
 

This meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast on the 
Council’s website.  The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except 
where there are confidential or exempt items.  A copy of the recording 
will also be retained in accordance with the Council’s data retention 

policy. 
 
 

If you have any queries regarding the recording of this meeting, please 
contact Committee Services on 02920 872020 or  

email Democratic Services 

 
 

mailto:democraticservices@cardiff.gov.uk


 
This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 
 

Item  Approx 
Time 

Max 
Time 
Allotted 

1   Apologies for Absence  
 
To receive apologies for absence (please ensure any 
apologies are notified to Democratic Services in advance 
of the meeting). 
 

4.30 pm 5 mins 

2   Declarations of Interest  
 
To receive declarations of interest (such declarations to be 
made in accordance with the Members Code of Conduct).  
Please ensure that any such declarations are notified to 
Democratic Services in advance. 
 

4.35 pm 5 mins 

3   Minutes (Pages 5 - 20) 
 
To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting on 27 
February 2020 
 

4.40 pm 5 mins 

4   Lord Mayor's Announcements  
 
To receive the Lord Mayor’s announcements including 
Recognitions and Awards. 
 

4.45 pm 5 mins 

5   Governance Arrangements during Covid-19 Crisis  
(Pages 21 - 40) 
 
Report of the Director of Governance and Legal Services & 
Monitoring Officer. 
 

4.50 pm 15 mins 

6   Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor Elect  
(Pages 41 - 42) 
 
Report of the Director of Governance and Legal Services 
and Monitoring Officer. 
 

5.05 pm 5 mins 

7   Statement of the Leader in relation to Covid 19  
(Pages 43 - 72) 
 
To receive a joint statement from the Leader and Cabinet 
and to take a maximum of 15 questions. 
 

5.10 pm 50 mins 

8   Urgent Business   
 
 

6.00 pm  

Unopposed Council Business   
 

 



By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you have saved the Authority approx. £2.39 in printing costs 

 
This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

 

9   Decisions where Call in has been disapplied  
(Pages 73 - 76) 
 
For noting 
 

6.00 pm 5 mins 

10   Appointment of Local Authority School Governors  
(Pages 77 - 82) 
 
Report of the Director of Governance & Legal Services and 
Monitoring Officer 
 

6.05 pm 5 mins 

11   Committee Appointments  
(Pages 83 - 84) 
 
Report of the Director of Governance & Legal Services and 
Monitoring Officer 
 

6.10 pm 5 mins 



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

1 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE CITY & COUNTY OF CARDIFF 
 
The County Council of the City & County of Cardiff met at County Hall, Cardiff on 27 
February 2020 to transact the business set out in the Council summons dated Friday, 
21 February 2020.  
 
Present: County Councillor Dan De’Ath  (Lord Mayor) 

 
 County Councillors Ahmed, Asghar Ali, Dilwar Ali, Berman, 

Bowen-Thomson, Boyle, Bradbury, Bridgeman, Burke-Davies, 
Carter, Cowan, Cunnah, De'Ath, Derbyshire, Driscoll, Ebrahim, 
Elsmore, Ford, Gibson, Goddard, Goodway, Gordon, Henshaw, 
Gavin Hill-John, Philippa Hill-John, Hinchey, Hopkins, Howells, 
Hudson, Jacobsen, Jenkins, Jones-Pritchard, K Jones, 
Owen Jones, Joyce, Kelloway, Lancaster, Lay, Lent, Lister, 
Mackie, McEvoy, McGarry, McKerlich, Melbourne, Merry, 
Michael, Molik, Naughton, Owen, Parkhill, Jackie Parry, 
Keith Parry, Patel, Phillips, Rees, Dianne Rees, Robson, 
Sandrey, Sattar, Simmons, Singh, Stubbs, Graham Thomas, 
Huw Thomas, Lynda Thorne, Walker, Weaver, Wild, Williams, 
Wong and Wood 
 

15 :   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bowden, Morgan and Taylor 
 
16 :   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
The following declarations of interest were received in accordance with the Members 
Code of Conduct in relation to Item 9 
 
Councillor Type of Interest Interest 

Berman Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Boyle Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Cowan Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

De’Ath Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Driscoll Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Ford Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Goodway Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Gavin Hill-John Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Phillipa Hill-John Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Howells Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Hudson Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Jones-Pritchard Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

McEvoy Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

McKerlich Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Merry Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Michael Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Naughton Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Owen Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Parkhill Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Phillips Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Dianne Rees Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Mia Rees Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

2 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

Robson Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Sandrey Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Singh Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Graham Thomas Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Huw Thomas Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Walker Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Wild Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Williams Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Pension Scheme 

Elsmore Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Credit Union 

Goddard Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Credit Union 

Goodway Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Credit Union 

McEvoy Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Credit Union 

Robson Personal Member of Cardiff & Vale Credit Union 

Dilwar Ali Personal Local Authority School Governor – Gabalfa and Hawthorn 
Primary Schools 

Berman Personal Local Authority School Governor – Marlborough Primary 
School and Ysgol y Berllan Deg 

Boyle Personal Local Authority School Governor – Howardian and 
Springwood Primary Schools 

Bradbury Personal Local Authority School Governor – Millbank Primary 
School and The Western Learning Campus 

Bridgeman Personal Local Authority School Governor – Eastern High School 
and The Rainbow Federation 

Burke-Davies Personal Local Authority School Governor – Ysgol Glan Ceubal 

Carter Personal Local Authority School Governor – St Phillips RC and 
Llanedeyrn Primary Schools 

Cowan Personal Local Authority School Governor – Greenhill School 
Cunnah Personal Local Authority School Governor – Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll 

Coch 
De’Ath Personal Local Authority School Governor – Albany Primary School 
Derbyshire Personal Local Authority School Governor – Rumney Primary 

School 
Driscoll Personal Local Authority School Governor – Danescourt Primary 

School 
Ebrahim Personal Local Authority School Governor – Mount Stuart Primary 

School 
Elsmore Personal Local Authority School Governor – Radnor Primary School 

and Ysgol Gymraeg Treganna 
Goddard Personal Local Authority School Governor – Ely & Caerau Children’s 

Centre and St Francis RC Primary School 
Goodway Personal Local Authority School Governor – Cardiff West 

Community High School 
Gordon Personal Local Authority School Governor – Severn Primary School 
Henshaw Personal Local Authority School Governor – Baden Powell Primary 

School 
Gavin Hill-John Personal Local Authority School Governor – Pentyrch Primary 

School 
Hinchey Personal Local Authority School Governor – Birchgrove and Ton-Yr-

Ywen Primary Schools 
Hopkins Personal Local Authority School Governor  - Lakeside Primary 

School 
Howells Personal Local Authority School Governor – Adamsdown and 

Stacey Primary Schools 
Hudson Personal Local Authority School Governor – Ton-Yr-Ywen Primary 

School 
Owen Jones Personal Local Authority School Governor – Adamsdown and 

Stacey Primary Schools 
Jones-Pritchard Personal Local Authority School Governor – The Pear Tree 

Foundation 
Lancaster Personal Local Authority School Governor – Llanishen High School 
Lent Personal Local Authority School Governor – Howardian and Roath 

Page 6



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

3 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

Park Primary Schools 
Lister Personal Local Authority School Governor – Grangetown Primary 

School 
Mackie Personal Local Authority School Governor – Cathays High and 

Gladstone Primary Schools 
McGarry Personal Local Authority School Governor – St Peter’s RC and 

Albany Primary Schools 
Molik Personal Local Authority School Governor – Rhydypenau Primary 

School 
Naughton Personal Local Authority School Governor – St David’s CiW Primary 

School 
Jackie Parry Personal Local Authority School Governor – St Cadoc’s RC Primary 

School 
Patel Personal Local Authority School Governor – Fitzalan High and 

Lansdowne Primary Schools 
Dianne Rees Personal Local Authority School Governor – St Mellons CiW Primary 

School 
Sandrey Personal Local Authority School Governor – Springwood Primary 

School 
Singh Personal Local Authority School Governor – Kitchener Primary 

Schol 
Stubbs Personal Local Authority School Governor – Willows High and 

Moorland Primary Schools 
Huw Thomas Personal Local Authority School Governor – Willows High School 

and Ysgol Glan Morfa 
Thorne Personal Local Authority School Governor – Grangetown Nursery 

and Ninian Park Primary Schools 
Walker Personal Local Authority School Governor – Llysfaen Primary 

School 
Weaver Personal Local Authority School Governor – Cathays High and 

Gladstone Primary Schools 
Williams Personal Local Authority School Governor – Oakfield Primary 

School and The Hollies School 
Wong Personal Local Authority School Governor – Cathays High and 

Roath Park Primary Schools 
Dianne Rees Personal Member of Old St Mellons Community Council 

Williams Personal Member of Old St Mellons Community Council 

Gavin Hill-John Personal Member of Pentyrch Community Council 

McKerlich Personal Member of Radyr and Morganstown Community Council 

Graham Thomas Personal Member of St Fagans Community Council 

Jones-Pritchard Personal Member of Tongwynlais Community Council 

Cowan Personal Member appointed to Glamorgan Archives Joint 
Committee 

Cunnah Personal Member appointed to Glamorgan Archives Joint 
Committee 

Henshaw Personal Member appointed to Glamorgan Archives Joint 
Committee 

Keith Jones Personal Member appointed to Glamorgan Archives Joint 
Committee 

Robson Personal Member appointed to Glamorgan Archives Joint 
Committee 

Michael Personal Member appointed to Cardiff Bay Advisory Committee 

Wild Personal Member appointed to Cardiff Bay Advisory Committee 

Huw Thomas Personal Member appointed to Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet 

Merry Personal Member appointed to Central South Consortium Joint 
Education Service Joint Committee 

Huw Thomas Personal  Member appointed to the Public Services Board 

Michael Personal Member appointed to Prosiect Gwyrdd Joint Committee 

Weaver Personal Member appointed to Prosiect Gwyrdd Joint Committee 

Michael Personal Member appointed to Shared Regulatory Services Joint 
Committee 

Page 7



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

4 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

Mackie Personal Member appointed to Shared Regulatory Services Joint 
Committee 

Hinchey Personal Member appointed to Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Regional 
Adoption Collaborative Joint Committee 

Gavin Hill-John Personal Non-Executive member appointed to Cardiff Bus 

Owen Jones Personal Non-Executive member appointed to Cardiff Bus 

Lay Personal Non-Executive member appointed to Cardiff Bus 

Sandrey Personal Non-Executive member appointed to Cardiff Bus 

Singh Personal Non-Executive member appointed to Cardiff Bus 

Merry Personal Member appointed to Cardiff & Vale College & WJEC 
Baord 

Elsmore Personal Member appointed to Cardiff & Vale Regional Partnership 
Board (Chair) 

Boyle Personal Member appointed to the Local Government Association 
General Assembly 

Merry Personal Member appointed to the Local Government Association 
General Assembly 

Robson Personal Member appointed to the Local Government Association 
General Assembly 

Huw Thomas Personal Member appointed to the Local Government Association 
General Assembly 

Dilwar Ali Personal Member appointed to South Wales Fire & Rescue Service 

Lister Personal Member appointed to South Wales Fire & Rescue Service 
Ebrahim Personal Member appointed to South Wales Fire & Rescue Service 
Naughton  Personal Member appointed to South Wales Fire & Rescue Service 
Williams Personal Member appointed to South Wales Fire & Rescue Service 
Bradbury Personal Member appointed to Welsh Local Government 

Association Council 

Elsmore Personal Member appointed to Welsh Local Government 
Association Council 

Goodway Personal Member appointed to Welsh Local Government 
Association Council 

Merry Personal Member appointed to Welsh Local Government 
Association Council 

Michael Personal Member appointed to Welsh Local Government 
Association Council 

Huw Thomas Personal Member appointed to Welsh Local Government 
Association Council 

Thorne Personal Member appointed to Welsh Local Government 
Association Council 

Weaver Personal Member appointed to Welsh Local Government 
Association Council 

Bradbury Personal Member appointed as Trustee Cardiff Story Museum 

Joyce Personal Resides in Council accommodation 

Mackie Personal Family Member Head of Integrated Care Services 

Stubbs Personal Event Co-Ordinator, Tremorfa Park 

Williams Personal Involved in ongoing dispute with Cardiff Bus 

Williams Personal Trustee Diverse Cymru 

Williams Personal Trustee Cartref Care Homes 

Williams Personal Family Members are employed by Cardiff Council, one of 
which is a GMB official. 

 
17 :   MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meetings 20 (extraordinary) and 30 January 2020 were approved 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairperson. 
 
 
 

Page 8



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

5 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

18 :   PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 
The Lord Mayor welcomed the two public questioners to the meeting of Council. 
 
Public Question 1 – Mr Dave Hann 
 
What consultation with local residents and business been carried out prior to the 
opening of the drop in centre at the old transport club on Tudor Street? 
 
Reply – Councillor Thorne 
 
The Council is currently in the process of acquiring the former Transport Club 
building on Tudor Street in Riverside as a future social housing development 
opportunity and to facilitate the overall improvement of the Riverside business 
corridor. 
 
We have had some success recently in addressing the problem of rough sleeping in 
the city. This success is due, in no small part, to the work of our Outreach team in 
providing positive social activities for homeless people where they can engage in an 
informal way with services. 
 
The team has already supported around 300 homeless individuals to take part in 
activities such as art, photography, music, Into Work and Money Advice workshops, 
as well as coffee mornings and sports sessions. 
 
The Outreach team is currently using the annex to the former Transport Club to 
provide some social activities for our homeless population. 
 
While the longer term plan is the redevelopment of the building, we are currently 
considering the short term use of the building as a more comprehensive Advice and 
Activity Centre for people experiencing homelessness. 
 
The project is one of a number planned for this year to help single people and 
couples who are homeless to turn their lives around through positive intervention, 
education and diversionary activities. 
 
The centre would be available to clients seeking support or engaging in meaningful 
activity and would provide access to computers for digital inclusion and to enable 
individuals to claim benefits. 
 
It would also provide those sleeping out or in emergency accommodation with 
somewhere to go during the day, which is safe and where a range of activities and 
education opportunities can help get their lives back on track. Access would be 
controlled and drug use would not be tolerated inside or in the area around the 
building. 
 
At present, these proposals are still under development and any significant change of 
use of the building will, of course, be subject to public consultation in the usual way. 
 
 

Page 9



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

6 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

Supplementary Question – Mr Dave Hann 
 
With respect my question was with regards to what consultation with local residents 
and businesses had been carried out prior to the opening of the drop in center at the 
Old Transport Club on Tudor Street and I don't feel that I was answered.  My 
secondary question, if I may ask that now, as a small business owner with various 
customers, several of whom are single women and children, and talking with other 
small business owners and residents from the area who have observed an increase 
in both street dealing and anti-social behaviour since the opening of this recent drop 
in scheme we feel we must ask how can this be adding to the redevelopment of the 
area of south Riverside. 
 
Reply – Councillor Thorne 
 
I'm sorry you didn't feel that I answered the question properly but none has taken 
place yet.  As I already as I said we are drawing up formal proposals once we have 
done this then we will go through the proper consultation, public consultation 
process.  
 
In terms of anti-social behaviour we have locality wardens which manage our high 
rise blocks, including Litchfield Court, and there are and have been, over the past 
year, a large number of anti-social behaviour activities where the police have been 
involved and those are flats which are available to homeless people, which actually 
was built in the late 1990’s specifically for homeless individuals.   
 
What I can tell you is that over, since January last year to September this year, on 
average there were 10 reports per month of anti-social behaviour from Litchfield 
Court.  During November, when we started actually using the Transport Club, that 
reduced to 4.  In December it spiked a bit and in January it went back down to 4.   I 
accept that there is anti-social behaviour in that area but I cannot accept that it is 
down to the activities that are currently taking place, they are no different really to the 
activities which were being put on - coffee mornings 7 days a week at The Little Man 
Coffee shop Tudor Street and I think that actually the things that we're looking to do 
will actually remove that anti-social behaviour but I do understand your concerns and 
we will be monitoring it and taking account of it. 
  
Public Question 2 -  Mr Richard Collins 
 
Cardiff has lost a majority of its grassroots music venues over the last few years due 
to crippling business rates and lack of profits. With such excellent live performance 
facilities in the Transport Club, would the council consider keeping the Transport 
Club as an arts focussed community centre to provide a chance for young people to 
learn instruments and for all cultures and faiths to come together? This would bring a 
level of wellbeing and joy to such a poor and neglected area. 
 
Reply – Councillor Bradbury 
 
I would like to say at the start that I don’t agree with the assertion that the city has 
“lost a majority of its grassroots music venues” and business rates are not set by 
Cardiff Council, that’s done nationally. 

Page 10



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

7 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

It is my understanding that the Transport Club was closed – like many pubs and 
clubs within the UK, and indeed in Riverside, as a whole in recent years – as it was 
no longer viable for it to operate as a social club for the simple reason that it was not 
used enough by paying customers. 
 
I recognise the challenges faced by the city’s grassroots music venues, but there are 
still many thriving and sustainable venues in the city. Through working with partners 
in the city on the newly established Cardiff Music Board, we will be exploring various 
ways to support these venues. 
 
The Leader of the Council has also written to the Welsh Government Minister for 
Finance to request that rate relief is provided for performance venues in Wales in 
order to help support their future viability. 
 
As was confirmed by my Cabinet colleague, Councillor Thorne, in reply to the 
previous question, the Council is currently in the process of acquiring the former 
Transport Club building for development as social housing in the longer term. 
 
In the short term, proposals are being developed for the building to be used by some 
of the most vulnerable people in our communities in the form of an Advice and 
Activity Centre for people experiencing homelessness. 
 
Supplementary Question – Mr Richard Collins 
 
Just a point about thriving venues in Cardiff I understand what you are saying in but 
as part of the Cardiff music scene we feel that we're really down to the bare bones at 
the moment.  If you look at recent years we've lost Buffalo, Abacus, 10 Feet Tall, 
Gwdihw’s, Dempsey's, Bogeys.  I understand what the Welsh Government is trying to 
do to support these venues but we really do feel like we're down to the bare bones.   
 
I was wondering, as a proposal for me, in the short term for the building would you be 
interested in leasing me the building where I could start a community art space, 
funded by me, because there are so many kind of interesting models to get this off 
the ground and it could be kind of community owned.  It would keep the local 
residents happy, who feel that this area of Riverside is saturated with similar services 
- needle exchanges, probation services and this could be a space for all local 
residents to enjoy as representation of the area, a representation of the local 
cultures, where we could all come and enjoy the building and be a real asset for 
Riverside. 
 
Reply – Councillor Bradbury 
 
Unfortunately it is not within my gift to make that sort of commitment and my Cabinet 
colleague has replied in the previous question as to what we are actually doing with 
that building at the moment. However I take on board the point that you are making in 
terms of music venues in general.  The Council actively supporting Gwdihw’s to be 
relocated with our economic development team helping them with their business 
plan.  We are actually working with the Music Board, for instance to make sure that 
the sector has a strong voice, not just in protecting existing venues but to build a 
thriving music scene that our Capital desperately wants and needs.   

Page 11



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

8 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

 
You may have read about the signature music event that we are actually putting 
together with the sector, not just major artists, but grassroots stuff as well.  We've 
supported ventures like the Tramshed which has created a very good sustainable 
music venue just round the corner from the Transport Club.   We've given a 125 year 
lease to Chapter in the last few years and we've also supported community art in 
venues such as Canton Community Hall. 
 
The important thing is that when music lovers go out and use these venues, that is 
best way of defending them, and I say that as somebody who is a strong advocate of 
Womanby Street, and I loved The Westgate pub which closed in south Riverside for 
instance.  They need to be used and that is the important thing to make sure them 
that community venues like this are viable in the long term. I am happy to meet with 
you to discuss your vision for art in the city, I’m just afraid that in this particular case it 
is not in my gift to give to you in terms of the Transport Club. 
 
19 :   LORD MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Lord Mayor expressed his sadness about former Councillor, Ann Cox, who had 
recently passed away at the age of 87 years.  She had been a Councillor for the 
Plasnewydd Ward for 13 years who had first been elected in 1991.  Ann championed 
woman’s rights and went on to work as a Finance Officer for Cardiff Women’s 
Workshop and later Women’s Aid.  Ann was also a school governor at Albany and 
Roath Park Primary schools and chair at Albany for 7 years.  In 2015 Ann was 
presented with a Labour Party Merit Award for her many years of active service and 
in her later years became a regular contributor to the letters page of the Western 
Mail.   
 
The Lord Mayor also advised that Councillors Joe Boyle and Mike Phillips would be 
running the London Marathon in late April on behalf of The National Autistic Society 
and Mind.  Councillor Mike Phillips would also be competing in IronMan Wales to 
raise money for Mind. 
 
20 :   PETITIONS  
 
The online petition presented by Councillor Hudson of 2300 signatures calling on the 
Council to retain the sports storage, changing rooms and toilets with Heath Park.  In 
order to progress this petition Democratic Services are awaiting receipt of the petition 
in the correct format. 
 
The online petition submitted by Councillor Berman calling on the Council to work 
together to make securing the funding and delivery of road calming measures for the 
Kimberley Road/Blenheim Road junction a key priority in the coming financial year.  
In order to progress this petition Democratic Services are awaiting receipt of the 
petition in the correct format. 
 
21 :   STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT  
 
The Lord Mayor informed Council that there was an amendment to the table outlined 
on page 12 of the report which showed an analysis of the complaints on a quarterly 

Page 12



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

9 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

basis.  The amendment is fully detailed in the Amendment Sheet which has been 
circulated.    
 
The Lord Mayor invited Professor James Downe, Chair of the Standards and Ethics 
Committee to present the report. 
 
Professor Down, thanked the previous Chair of the Standards and Ethics Committee, 
Richard Tebboth, for his leadership and the support that he had provided to the 
Committee.  Professor Downe made reference to the Members Survey and also 
comments on social media, in relation to Council business.   
 
The Lord Mayor thank the Chair of Standards & Ethics for his report. 
 
RESOLVED - That the report be noted. 
 
22 :   CARDIFF COUNCIL CORPORATE PLAN 2020-23  
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Huw Thomas, proposed the Corporate Plan for 
2020-23, which had been developed in tandem with the process for developing and 
setting the Council’s budget for 2020-21. 
 
The Corporate Plan was seconded by the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Education, Employment and Skills, Councillor Merry who reiterated the 
administration’s priorities to deliver on creating opportunities, talking inequalities, 
poverty and ill health, action on homelessness and protection of the most vulnerable 
in society. 
 
The Lord Mayor invited debate on the item. 
 
During the debate Councillor Adrian Robson proposed a reference back. 
 
Councillor Jayne Cowan seconded the reference back. 
 
During the debate on the Corporate Plan observations were made in relation to: 
 

  The ambition and targets in the Corporate Plan and how Cardiff could 
achieve more; 

  The challenges for services and key priorities such as early intervention 
and the important of the Early Help Gateway; 

  Strengthening of preventative and support services; 

  Tacking inequalities; 

  Environment issues such as reduction in carbon emissions; climate 
change; and waste reduction; 

  Importance of education opportunities; and 

  Partnership working 

 
The Lord Mayor invited the Leader to respond to the points raised. 
 

Page 13



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

10 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

The Lord Mayor called for a vote on the reference back as proposed by Councillor 
Adrian Robson and seconded by Councillor Jayne Cowan. 
 
The vote on the reference back was LOST. 
 
The Lord Mayor called for a vote on the recommendations in the report as proposed 
by the Leader Councillor Huw Thomas. 
 
The vote was CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED – That 
 
1. The Corporate Plan 2020-2023 was approved. 

 
2. To delegate authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of 

the Council, to make any consequential amendments to the Corporate Plan 
2020-23 (Appendix A) following consideration by Council on 27 February 2020 
and prior to publication by 1 April 2020 

 
23 :   BUDGET PROPOSALS 2020 - 2021  
 
(Members declarations of interest under Article 10 of the Members’ Code of Conduct 
as set out in Minute Number 16 were noted) 
 
Council was requested to consider the Cabinet Proposals as set out in the Budget 
Proposals 2020-2021 report.   
 
The Lord Mayor informed Council that Appendix 4(c) to this report is exempt 
information under Schedule 12A of Part 4 paragraph 14 and Part 5 paragraph 21 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and that should any Member indicate that they wish 
to discuss any of the information contained in that document those speakers would 
be taken last as the Public would have to be excluded for that discussion. 
 
Three alternative proposals to the Budget report, and the necessary statutory 
officers’ advice was reported set out under each of the amendments on the 
Amendment sheet before Council.  It was therefore not the Lord Mayor’s intention to 
allow questions to be put to the Statutory Officers regarding the proposals before 
Council. 
 
The Lord Mayor invited the Cabinet Member, Finance, Modernisation and 
Performance, Councillor Weaver, to propose the Cabinet Report. 
 
The Cabinet Member presented the administration budget for approval.  It was an 
ambitious budget, set within a challenging financial outlook and aimed to build on 
Capital Ambition principles and maintaining focus on performance and statutory 
services.  Making the best use of income generation and developing stronger 
partnerships.  This year the timetable had been delayed as a result of the General 
Election, with the final settlement being provided this week, and for Cardiff there were 
no changes.  Income Generation was critical along with the appropriate use of 
reserves.  

Page 14



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

11 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

 
A raise in Council Tax of 4.5%, one of the lowest rises in Wales.  The Cabinet 
Member referred to the Medium Term Financial Plan and Capital financing, and the 
use of the Financial Resilience Mechanism and risk assessment, all tools used in the 
budget planning process for 2020/21. 
 
The Cabinet Member noted the three alternative amendments received, however the 
use of contingency and resilience would put the Council’s resources at risk and 
weaken its resilience. 
 
The Cabinet Member thanked Cabinet colleagues, Group Leaders and 
spokespersons; Scrutiny Chairs, Members, the Section 151 Officer, Senior 
Management, and all those involved in bringing together the budget proposals and 
commended the Cabinet proposal to Council. 
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Huw Thomas seconded the proposed Budget 
2020/21. 
 
The Leader focussed on the key principles outlined in the Corporate Plan.  This 
budget would support the next generation, children and young people, accelerating  
Cardiff’s economy and Cardiff’s response to climate emergency.  Supporting the 
vulnerable and improving quality of care services.  A 300M investment in rebuilding 
and restoring schools.  Tackling inequality as well as providing access to good jobs, 
and sustainable and accessible public transport. 
 
The Lord Mayor invited the proposer and seconder of each of the amendments to 
formally move their proposal and speak. 
 
Councillor Gavin Hill-John proposed the Conservative alternative budget proposal 
and spoke on the amendment.  Councillor Robson seconded the amendment and 
spoke. 
 
Councillor Berman proposed the Liberal Democrat alternative budget proposal and 
spoke on the amendment.  Councillor Boyle seconded the amendment and spoke. 
 
Councillor McEvoy proposed the Welsh National Party alternative budget proposal 
and spoke on the amendment.  Councillor Keith Parry seconded the amendment and 
spoke. 
 
The Lord Mayor invited debate on the Cabinet proposals and the three alternative 
proposals. 
 
Members commented on the budget proposals and the amendments and raised a 
number of matters including difficulties in meeting demands for adults and children’s 
services and the importance or supporting and protecting vulnerable children and 
adults.  Providing support to independent living services and importance of tackling 
loneliness and providing support to citizens with dementia. 
 
Members stressed the importance of investment in young people, education, 
additional learning needs; youth service, fostering services; care leavers, 

Page 15



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

12 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

employment and training; development of affordable housing provisions and 
accessible accommodation; the need to tackle poverty.  
 
Members discussed investment in infrastructure, traffic schemes, the promotion of 
active travel – walking and cycling; and the position of the bus station. 
 
Members also raised concerns in relation to the use of contingency and reserve. 
 
The Lord Mayor thanked Members for their contribution to the debate and invited the 
Cabinet Member Finance, Modernisation and Performance, Councillor Weaver to 
respond to matters raised during the debate. 
 
Lord Mayor took the votes as follows: 
 
The vote on the Conservative amendment proposed by Councillor Gavin Hill-John 
and seconded by Councillor Adrian Robson was LOST. 
 
The vote on the Liberal Democrat amendment proposed by Councillor Berman and 
seconded by Councillor Boyle was LOST. 
 
The vote on the Welsh National Party amendment proposed by Councillor McEvoy 
and seconded by Councillor Keith Parry was LOST. 
 
The vote on the recommendations as proposed in the report was CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED – to 
 
1.0 Approve the Revenue, Capital and Housing Revenue Account budgets 

including all proposals and increasing the Council Tax by 4.5% as set out 
in this report and that the Council resolve the following terms. 
 

2.0 Note that at its meeting on 19 December 2019 the Cabinet calculated the 
following amounts for the year 2020/21 in accordance with the regulations 
made under Section 33(5) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992:- 
 

 a) 147,277 being the amount calculated in accordance with Regulation 
3 of the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (Wales) 
Regulations 1995, as amended, as its Council Tax base for the year. 
 

 b) Lisvane 
Pentyrch 
Radyr 
St Fagans 
Old St. Mellons 
Tongwynlais 

2,499 
3,316 
3,841 
1,592 
2,047 
   820 
 

 being the amounts calculated in accordance with Regulation 6 of the 
Regulations as the amounts of its Council Tax base for the year for 
dwellings in those parts of its area to which special items relate. 
 

Page 16



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

13 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

2.1 Agree that the following amounts be now calculated by the County Council 
of the City and County of Cardiff for the year 2020/21 in accordance with 
Sections 32 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992:- 
 

 a) Aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items 
set out in Section 32(2)(a) to (d) (including Community Council 
precepts totalling £445,570) 

  £1,069,798,570 
 

 b) Aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for items set 
out in Section 32(3)(a) and (c) 

  £414,317,000 
 

 c) Amount by which the aggregate at 2.1(a) above exceeds the 
aggregate at 2.1(b) above calculated in accordance with Section 
32(4) as the budget requirement for the year 

  £655,481,570 
 

 d) Aggregate of the sums which the Council estimates will be payable 
for the year into its Council Fund in respect of Revenue Support 
Grant, its council tax reduction scheme, redistributed Non-Domestic 
Rates. 

  £469,047,025 
 

 e) The amount at 2.1(c) above less the amount at 2.1(d) (net of the 
amount for discretionary relief of £400,000), all divided by the 
amount at 2.0(a) above, calculated in accordance with Section 33(1) 
as the basic amount of Council Tax for the year. 

  £1,268.59 
 

 f) Aggregate amount of all special items referred to in Section 34(1) 
  £445,570 

 
 g) Amount at 2.1(e) above less the result given by dividing the amount 

at 2.1(f) above by the amount at 2.0(a) above, in accordance with 
Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of Council Tax for the 
year for dwellings in those parts of the area to which no special items 
relate 

   £1,265.57 
 

 h) The amounts given by adding to the amount at 2.1(g) above the 
amounts of special items relating to dwellings in those parts of the 
Council's area mentioned below, divided in each case by the amount 
at 2.0(b) above, calculated in accordance with Section 34(3) as the 
basic amounts of Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those 
parts of the area to which special items relate. 
 

  Lisvane 
Pentyrch 
Radyr 

£1,283.58 
£1,318.34 
£1,298.44 

Page 17



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

14 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

St Fagans 
Old St. Mellons 
Tongwynlais 

£1,284.99 
£1,287.33 
£1,293.62 
 

 i) The amounts given by multiplying the amounts at 2.1(g) and 2.1(h) 
above by the number which in the proportion set out in the Council 
Tax (Valuation Bands) (Wales) Order 2003 is applicable to dwellings 
listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number which in 
that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation band D 
calculated in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act as the 
amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of 
categories of dwellings listed in different valuation bands. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
2.2 Note that for the year 2020/21, the Police and Crime Commissioner for South 

Wales has stated the following amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in 
accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for 
each of the categories of dwelling shown below:- 

 
 

VALUATION BANDS 
 

A B C D E F G H I 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

181.81 212.11 242.41 272.72 333.32 393.92 454.53 545.43 636.34 
 
 
2.3 Having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at 2.1(i) and 

2.2 above, the County Council of the City and County of Cardiff in 
accordance with Section 30(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
hereby sets the following amounts as the amounts of Council Tax for the year 
2020/21 for each of the categories of dwellings shown below:- 
 

 A B C D E F G H I 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Area          

Lisvane 855.72 998.34 1,140.96 1,283.58 1,568.82 1,854.06 2,139.30 2,567.16 2,995.02 
Pentyrch 878.89 1,025.37 1,171.86 1,318.34 1,611.31 1,904.27 2,197.23 2,636.68 3,076.13 
Radyr 865.62 1,009.90 1,154.17 1,298.44 1,586.98 1,875.53 2,164.06 2,596.88 3,029.70 
St. Fagans 856.59 999.36 1,142.12 1,284.89 1,570.42 1,855.96 2,141.48 2,569.78 2,998.08 
Old St. Mellons 858.55 1,001.64 1,144.74 1,287.83 1,574.02 1,860.20 2,146.38 2,575.66 3,004.94 
Tongwynlais 862.41 1,006.15 1,149.88 1,293.62 1,581.09 1,868.57 2,156.03 2,587.24 3,018.45 
All other parts  

of the Council’s Area 843.71 984.33 1,124.95 1,265.57 1,546.81 1,828.05 2,109.28 2,531.14 2,953.00 

Page 18



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

15 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

 
Part of Council's Area 
VALUATION BANDS 
 

 A B C D E F G H I 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Area          

Lisvane 1,037.53 1,210.45 1,383.37 1,556.30 1,902.14 2,247.98 2,593.83 3,112.59 3,631.36 

Pentyrch 1,060.70 1,237.48 1,414.27 1,591.06 1,944.63 2,298.19 2,651.76 3,182.11 3,712.47 

Radyr 1,047.43 1,222.01 1,396.58 1,571.16 1,920.30 2,269.45 2,618.59 3,142.31 3,666.04 

St. Fagans 1,038.40 1,211.47 1,384.53 1,557.61 1,903.74 2,249.88 2,596.01 3,115.21 3,634.42 

Old St. 

Mellons 1,040.36 1,213.75 1,387.15 1,560.55 1,907.34 2,254.12 2,600.91 3,121.09 3,641.28 

Tongwynlais 1,044.22 1,218.26 1,392.29 1,566.34 1,914.41 2,262.49 2,610.56 3,132.67 3,654.79 

All other parts 

of the 

Council’s 

Area 1,025.52 1,196.44 1,367.36 1,538.29 1,880.13 2,221.97 2,563.81 3,076.57 3,589.34 

 
 

2.4 Authorise the Corporate Director Resources to make payments under 
Section 38 of the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 from the Council Fund 
by equal instalments on the last working day of each month from April 2020 
to March 2021 in respect of the precept levied by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for South Wales in the sum of £40,164,662. 
 

2.5 Agree that the Common Seal be affixed to the said Council Tax. 
 

2.6 Agree that the Common Seal be affixed to precepts for Port Health Expenses 
for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 namely 
 

  County Council of the City and County of Cardiff £113,783 
 

  Vale of Glamorgan County Borough Council £12,817 
 

2.7 Agree that notices of the making of the said Council Taxes signed by the 
Chief Executive be given by advertisement in the local press under Section 
38(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
 

3.0 In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, the Local Authority 
(Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 2003 and subsequent 
amendments and the CIPFA Prudential Code and Treasury Management 
Codes of Practice: 
 

 (a) Approve the Capital Strategy 2020/21. 
 

 (b) Approve the Treasury Management Strategy 2020/21 and authorise 
the Section 151 Officer to raise such funds as may be required to 

Page 19



City Council of the City & County of Cardiff 
27 February 2020 

16 
 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

finance capital expenditure by temporary or long-term borrowing. 
 

 (c) Approve the Prudential Indicators for 2020/21 – 2024/25 including the 
affordable borrowing limit. 
 

 (d) Delegate to the Section 151 Officer the ability to effect movement 
between the limits for borrowing and long-term liabilities, within the 
limit for any year, and to bring forward or delay schemes in the Capital 
Programme. 
 

 (e) Approve the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy for 2019/20 and 
2020/21. 
 

4.0 To approve the Budgetary Framework outlined in this report. 
 

5.0 To maintain the current Council Tax Reduction Scheme as set out in this 
report. 

 
 
24 :   URGENT BUSINESS  
 
There was no Urgent Business 
 
25 :   COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS  
 
The Council was requested to approve the nominations to vacancies in accordance 
with political group wishes and as reported in the amendment sheet for Council. 
 
RESOLVED – To note that no nominations were received.  
 
26 :   APPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVES TO OUTSIDE BODIES  
 
The Council was requested to approve the appointment of Council representatives to 
statutory and non-statutory outside bodies. 
 
RESOLVED – that the following nominations were approved 
 

Body Appointment 

Cardiff & Vale of Glamorgan 
Community Health Council 

Councillor Dilwar Ali 

 
 

Page 20



 

 

CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 
COUNCIL:        21 MAY 2020 
 
 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF GOVERNANCE & LEGAL SERVICES 
 

 
GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS DURING COVID 19 RESPONSE PERIOD 

Reason for this Report 

1. To allow the Council to agree changes to its governance arrangements 

during the period when normal business operations are disrupted due to 

government restrictions and additional service pressures arising from the 

current COVID-19 pandemic.  

 
Background 

 
2. The UK government has introduced a range of personal isolation and social 

distancing measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The application 

of these measures means that Members are unlikely to be able to physically 

attend meetings of the Council, the Cabinet and Committees for several 

months until the restrictions are lifted.   

 

3. There are significant additional service pressures arising from the pandemic, 

at a time when fewer staff may be available to carry out their duties. It is 

therefore important that while being open and accountable, the Council’s 

decision making process is also proportionate and manageable at this time.   

 

4. Under statutory powers granted in the Coronavirus Act 2020, the Welsh 

Ministers have issued Regulations (The Local Authorities (Coronavirus) 

(Meetings) (Wales) Regulations 2020). The Welsh Minister’s written 

statement presenting the Regulations says ‘Local authority meetings are 

unlikely to return to normal for some months and therefore Councils need 

flexibility to provide for urgent business relating to COVID-19.’  The 

Regulations make temporary changes to the rules governing local authority 

meetings during the COVID-19 response period. 

 

Issues  
 
5. During the COVID-19 response period, it is important that the Council is able 

to safely make essential and time critical decisions.  Changes to be made to 

the Council’s governance arrangements to facilitate this, in line with the 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



 

provisions of the new Regulations, include: 

 

Deferral of Council’s Annual Meeting 

 

6. In cases of urgency, the Council Meeting Procedure Rules (Rule 5b) permit 

the Proper Officer to vary the date, time and place of meetings. The 

Monitoring Officer is the Council’s Proper Officer for these purposes.  In order 

to retain the focus of Council time and resources on COVID-19 related 

priorities and any other urgent business, the Monitoring Officer, in 

consultation with the Lord Mayor,  the Leader of the Council, and all political 

Group Leaders, has decided  to defer the 2020 Annual Meeting (in 

accordance with Council Meeting Procedure Rule 5(b)).   

 

7. The Regulations remove the requirement for the 2020 annual meeting of a 

principal council to be held in March, April or May 2020, and allow the Annual 

Meeting to be held on any date in 2020 decided by the Proper Officer.  The 

date for the 2020 Annual Meeting will be kept under review and set, in 

consultation with the Lord Mayor and party group leaders, in due course. 

  

Chair and Vice-Chair of Council, Committee Chairs and Deputies, and Other Council 

Appointees - Terms of Office Continue 

 
8. The Chair and Vice-Chair of Council must be elected / appointed at the 

Annual Council meeting (under sections 23 and 24 of the Local Government 

Act 1972).  Committee Chairs and Deputies and appointments to outside 

bodies are also all to be appointed at Annual Council under the Council 

Meeting Procedure Rules, Rule 2.  The Regulations allow all such elections 

and appointments to be delayed until any time before 1st May 2021.  As long 

as the current incumbents are content to remain in office, their terms of office 

are automatically extended until their successors are elected or appointed. 

The Chair and Vice-Chair of Council have both confirmed they are content to 

remain in office.  The election of new office holders is therefore to be deferred 

until the rescheduled Annual Meeting (unless it becomes necessary to fill any 

vacancy before then.)  

 
Remote Meetings for Essential and Urgent Business  

 

9. The Regulations relax the existing rules for remote attendance (which require 

30% to be physically present in the same room, under the Local Government 

(Wales) Measure 2011) and replace them with new rules.  The new rules 

allow meetings of a local authority to be held remotely using any equipment 

or facility which allows Members to speak to, and be heard by, each other 

(whether or not Members can also see each other).  The new rules on remote 

attendance apply to any meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees or 

Joint Committees (or Community Councils) held before 1st May 2021. 

 

10. Whilst the legislative framework for remote meetings is in place, there are a 

number of issues which need further consideration and development to 

Page 22



 

support arrangements for remote meetings.  The issues, which are under 

consideration, include: 

 

a) Technology – various IT solutions are currently available and are being 

further developed, with different functionalities, security issues, equipment 

and software requirements etc.  Careful analysis is being carried out by 

officers to identify the best solution for the Council’s requirements.  This is 

being kept under review as technical solutions are continually developing.  

 

b) Public access – the rules on public access to meetings have been temporarily 

relaxed by the Regulations, but the Welsh Government’s accompanying 

Explanatory Memorandum says that Councils ‘may, if practicable, enable 

members of the public and the press to attend certain 

meetings remotely.’  Officers are investigating different options for making 

meetings accessible to the public.  The preferred option is to live stream 

remote meetings via the Council’s webcast, but not all Council Members 

presently have IT equipment which supports this.  As an interim solution, 

arrangements have been made to record this Council meeting and then 

upload the recording to the Council’s website.  At some meetings, for 

example, Public Questions at Council meetings and planning committee 

meetings, the public also have the right to address the meeting.  

Consideration is being given to the IT required to facilitate this (whilst live 

streaming the meeting), as well as protocols / rules to manage public 

participation in a remote meeting. 

 

c) Welsh language – the Welsh Language Standards for public meetings remain 

unchanged, which means the Council should make available simultaneous 

translation from Welsh to English  if anyone attending a meeting wishes to 

use the Welsh language.  However, there is no IT system currently available 

which has been verified to meet the Council’s security requirements and 

offers simultaneous translation functionality.  The Welsh Language 

Commissioner has acknowledged the exceptional challenges presented 

during the COVID crisis and indicated that, whilst he is keen to see 

opportunities to use the Welsh language maintained, he will deal with 

complaints ‘on a case-by-case basis and give careful attention to the 

exceptional and particular circumstances’.  Discussions are ongoing with IT 

solution providers and Bilingual Cardiff to seek suitable IT functionality for 

future meetings.  

 
d) Procedure for remote meetings - Officers have drafted an Elected Members 

Protocol for Remote Meetings, covering pre-meeting preparation and checks, 

instructions on joining a remote meeting and how Members can participate 

in the meeting.  This Protocol may be amended and further developed, as 

required.  In time, and based on experience from holding meetings remotely 

during this pandemic, the Council may decide to adopt new standing orders 

on remote meetings, if it wishes to do so. However, it should be noted that 

the new Regulations take precedence over any constitutional rules, which 

means the new provisions apply regardless of anything to the contrary in the 

Page 23



 

Council’s Constitution.   

 

11. For meetings where the Council is acting in a quasi-judicial role, such as 

Planning Committee, Licensing Committee and Public Protection Committee, 

it is particularly important for the Council to ensure that the remote meeting 

arrangements are robust enough to withstand a legal challenge to the 

decision. 

 
Scrutiny 
 

12. The Council needs to ensure that effective scrutiny is maintained for 

decisions relating to the COVID response and other essential / time critical 

decisions being taken during this period.  The Centre for Public Scrutiny 

(CfPS)  has issued guidance which confirms that ‘scrutiny must continue to 

provide councillors and local people with the critical assurance that huge 

decisions are being made in a way that is transparent and accountable.’ 

13. However, CfPS acknowledges that Councils will not have the capacity to 

resume the full programme of ordinary scrutiny meetings because:  

‘Councils will lack the member capacity to engage in a full-spectrum work 

programme across in some cases multiple committees. Their focus is 

likely to lie on supporting their residents; 

Councils will lack the officer capacity to service and support a range of 

committees and task & finish groups. We know that scrutiny and 

democratic services officers have already been redeployed to work on the 

operational community response; 

The situation is too fast-moving to allow for the effective prioritisation of 

scrutiny work in the usual manner.’ 

 

14. CfPS encourages  ‘a proportionate, challenging but supportive approach to 

scrutiny’ and suggests one option would be a single scrutiny committee, 

meeting fortnightly or every three weeks to scrutinise a regular package of 

information identifying pressure points on council services relating to COVID-

19, along with other business critical matters.  The CfPS Guidance says ‘The 

framing and focus for scrutiny which we have suggested will limit 

scrutiny’s input into all but “life and limb” issues, for local people, the area, 

and the authority. This is based on the assumption that much policy 

development work that does not relate to COVID-19 will be put on hold 

as the crisis continues, and that planned changes to other services 

(including big projects) may largely go on hiatus too.’ 

 

Page 24



 

15. Initial terms of reference for a COVID-19 Scrutiny Panel are proposed as 

follows: 

 

a) A COVID-19 Scrutiny Panel be established comprising of the five 
Scrutiny Chairpersons.   

 
b) The Panel will be responsible for scrutinising the Council’s 

functions, as well as the work undertaken by the Cardiff Public 
Services Board and its impact on the local community.   

 
c) This Panel will initially be in place until 30th September 2020, with its 

duration and remit being kept under review.  Any changes will need 
to be agreed by full Council. 

 
d) The Panel will: 

 
i) Meet remotely when required with each meeting being 

recorded for subsequent upload or live streamed to the 
Council’s website to make the meetings available to the 
public. 

 
ii) Undertake pre-decision scrutiny of all Cabinet decisions with 

each Panel member informally liaising with their own 
committee members to ensure that their views are taken into 
account. 

 
iii) Consider any scrutiny that has previously been undertaken 

and which is relevant to the Cabinet decision being made. 
 
iv) Seek further information or clarification from the Cabinet 

Member Portfolio Holder and relevant Senior Officers during 
its remote meetings. 

 
v) Inform Cabinet in writing of the pre-decision scrutiny 

recommendations of the Panel for each Cabinet Decision.   
 

vi) Collate any COVID-19 “life and limb” concerns identified by 
ward members for escalation to the Cabinet. 

 
e) Quorum 
The quorum for the Panel is three members. 
 
f) Substitute members 
Substitute members may be appointed in accordance with the 
Appointment of Substitute Members Procedure Rule.   
 
g) Chairperson 
The Chair of the Panel is to be appointed by Council.  In the absence of 
the Chair, the Panel shall elect one of its members to chair the meeting.  

Page 25



 

 
16. For the avoidance of doubt, Members may wish to note that the temporary 

convening of the COVID-19 Scrutiny Panel, as set out in the paragraph 

above, will not result in any changes to Senior Salary entitlements for Scrutiny 

Chairs under the Members’ Remuneration Schedule. 

 

Programme of Meetings 

 

17. The Council needs to continue to focus on urgent business related to COVID-
19, so it is unlikely that meetings will return to normal for some months.   
 

18. The Regulations relax the timescale for any other local authority meetings 
which would ordinarily need to be held (under any other Act or instrument) by 
a certain date before 1st May 2021, and allow  such meetings to be held on 
any day and time before 1st May 2021, as determined by the Council.  

 
19. Meetings which may need to be convened over coming months include: 

 
i. Council 

 

ii. Cabinet – to take COVID-19 related and other urgent or time critical 

decisions, such as those relating to the Council’s budget; 

 
iii. Scrutiny – to provide effective and proportionate scrutiny of 

decisions being taken; 

 
iv. Planning Committee – a meeting is likely to be scheduled for June 

to determine planning applications to allow time critical 

developments to proceed without undue delay, provided suitable 

arrangements can be made to ensure effective consultation has 

taken place and for public speaking; and 

 
v. Licensing / Public Protection – to discharge the Council’s statutory 

duties, again subject to effective consultation having taken place 

and  appropriate arrangements being made for public speaking. 

 
vi. Audit Committee – meetings required to consider the Council’s 

Statement of Accounts, Pension Fund accounts and Treasury 

Performance and Management reports. 

 
vii. Joint Committees – Project Gwyrdd and Glamorgan Archives joint 

committee meetings to be scheduled this month to approve the 

joint committees’ accounts; and City Deal Joint Committee 

meetings are being scheduled for May and June to progress 

various ongoing projects and investments. 

 

Page 26



 

 
Legal Implications 

 

20. Legal implications arising from the Local Authorities 
(Coronavirus)(Meetings)(Wales) Regulations 2020 are set out in the body of 
the report. 
 

21. The Local Government Act 2000 requires authorities to set up overview and 
scrutiny committees. The legislative provisions for overview and scrutiny 
committees for Wales have been amended and supplemented by the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011 and Regulations made thereunder.  
There are also specific legislative provisions relating to scrutiny of crime and 
disorder matters (the Police and Justice Act 2006); and Public Services Board 
functions (the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015).  Subject 
to compliance with the relevant statutory provisions, the number of scrutiny 
committees and their size is a matter for each Council to determine. 
 

22. Scrutiny committees are subject to the rules on political proportionality (under 
section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989).  The Scrutiny 
Chairs have been allocated to political groups in accordance with the political 
proportionality rules for scrutiny chairs (under the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2011, which means that a scrutiny panel comprised of the 5 scrutiny 
chairs will be politically balanced.  Members may wish to note that the political 
balance of a committee comprised of the 5 scrutiny chairs is more favourable 
to opposition groups than the balance which would apply if an allocation were 
required under the 1989 Act political balance rules. 
 

23. As noted in the paragraph above, the appointment of scrutiny chairs is 
governed by statutory rules (under Part 6 of the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2011). Under these rules (section 74 of the Measure), the chair of 
the new temporary scrutiny panel must be an opposition group member 
appointed by Council, with cross-party support.  
 

24. The scrutiny arrangements of the Council, including the establishment of 
scrutiny committees and their terms of reference, are matters which require 
the approval of full Council. 

 
25. The Council has public sector equality duties under the Equality Act 2010 

(including specific Welsh public sector duties). Pursuant to these legal duties, 
Councils must, in making decisions, have due regard to the need to (1) 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) 
foster good relations on the basis of protected characteristics. The protected 
characteristics are: age, gender reassignment, sex, race – including ethnic or 
national origin, colour or nationality, disability, pregnancy and maternity, 
marriage and civil partnership, sexual orientation, religion or belief – including 
lack of belief.  An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been carried out 
in respect of remote meetings arrangements to identify any inadvertent 
discriminatory effects and potential mitigation measures.  Members should 
have regard to the EIA, appended as Appendix A.  

 

Page 27



 

26. The Council must also be mindful of its Welsh language duties, under the 
Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards 
and consider the impact of its decisions upon the Welsh language.  This issue 
is addressed in paragraph 10(c) of the report. 

 
27. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the Council 

to consider how its proposed decisions will contribute towards 
meeting the wellbeing objectives set out in the Corporate Plan. Members 
must also be satisfied that the proposed decisions comply with 
the sustainable development principle, which requires that the needs of the 
present are met without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs. 
 

Financial  Implications 

 
28. The intended use of existing video conferencing software for remote 

attendance at Council meetings will not incur additional initial licence or 
software costs.  Procurement costs of £9,948 have been required to ensure 
IT devices and associated hardware meet the required standard for those in 
remote attendance at the initial Full Council Meeting.  
 

29. Further costs are to be identified and contained within the Democratic 
Services budget for wider Committee meeting requirements, and for any 
changes or enhancements to the initial approach, in the municipal year 
2020/21. These include costs of further hardware to be identified through a 
review of the access to, and compatibility of, IT devices for those to be in 
remote attendance at wider Committees of the Council, and potential 
software costs for Welsh Language services, which are also to be 
determined.   
 

30. The cost of webcasting is anticipated to offset the IT procurement costs 
incurred to date. The budget for webcasting in 2019/20 was £26,400 with 
£6,000 drawn down from reserves, and a new procurement is to be 
undertaken in which the number of hours of service required for 2020/21 are 
anticipated at 50 percent lower than the prior year.  
 

31. The initial Council meeting papers have been offered in printed form to 
support Members as they familiarise themselves with the new technology, for 
which printing costs are anticipated at £225 and postage costs will also apply. 
Consideration would need to be given to the requirements and costs of 
providing printed papers for further Council and Committee meetings.      
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
Council is recommended to: 
 

Page 28



 

1. Note the decision of the Monitoring Officer, taken in consultation with the Lord 
Mayor and political group leaders, to defer the Council’s Annual Meeting 2020 to 
a future date in 2020, to be kept under review and advised in due course; 
 

2. Note the continuation of the terms of the office of the Chair and Vice-Chair of 
Council, Committee Chairs and Deputies and other Council appointees, as set 
out in paragraph 8 of the report; 

 
3. Note the arrangements being made in respect of remote meetings for essential 

time critical and/or Covid 19 related decisions, as set out in paragraph 10 of the 
report;  

 
4.  Approve the establishment of a Covid-19 Scrutiny Panel, comprised of the 5 

current scrutiny committee chairs, with the terms of reference set out in 
paragraph 15 of the report; and 

 
5. Approve the appointment of the Chair of the Covid-19 Scrutiny Panel set up 

under recommendation 4 above. 
 

 

 
 

DAVINA FIORE 

DIRECTOR OF GOVERNANCE AND LEGAL SERVICES AND 

MONITORING OFFICER 

14th May 2020 

 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A  Equalities Impact Assessment – Remote meetings   
 
 
Background papers       
 

Remote Meetings:  Information and Guidance, including Elected Members 

Protocol for Remote Meetings 

 

Centre for Public Scrutiny, COVID-19 Guide 2: Approaches to Scrutiny 

During the Crisis   

 

https://www.cfps.org.uk/?publication=covid-19-guide-2-scrutiny 

  

 

Page 29

https://www.cfps.org.uk/?publication=covid-19-guide-2-scrutiny


This page is intentionally left blank



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 1 

 

 
 

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title: REMOTE MEETINGS 

New/Existing/Updating/Amending: AMENDING REMOTE ATTENDANCE STANDING 
ORDER  

 

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function? 

Name: Gary Jones Job Title:  Head of Democratic Services 

Service Team: Democratic Services Service Area: Governance and Legal 

Assessment Date: 12/05/2020 

 
1. What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/  
             Service/Function?             
 

 
To hold decision making meetings remotely, using IT systems which allow Members to 
participate in meetings, without physically attending at the same place, and to facilitate 
remote public access to meetings, as far as possible;  due to social distancing 
restrictions imposed by the government for public safety in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic. 
 
The purpose of holding remote meetings is to: 
- to minimise risks to the Council’s continuing conduct of important business;  
- to ensure Council members and officers can act in accordance with official health 
guidance; and 
 - to minimise the risk to the public and press. 

 

 
2. Please provide background information on the           

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done 
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done etc.] 

 

 
The Welsh Government has issued new legislation allowing local authorities to hold 
decision making meetings remotely in order to continue to discharge important 
COVID-19 related and other urgent business during the national lockdown imposed in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
 
 

 
3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics 
 
3.1 Age 

 

Page 31



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 2 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people?  
 

                                                                                                        Yes No N/A 

Up to 18 years  x  

18 - 65 years  x  

Over 65 years  x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.  

Older people may be less familiar with the new technologies required to support 
remote meetings, although we have no direct evidence to confirm this. 
 
Older people are also likely to be at greater risk of COVID virus related health 
problems, according to medical evidence which classes over 70’s as ‘vulnerable’. 
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

We will seek to provide all necessary training and support for elected Members to 
enable them to participate effectively in remote meetings. 
We will also endeavour to provide advice and assistance for members of the public 
about how to access remote meetings. 
Making arrangements for remote meetings may help older people to safely participate 
in / access decision making meetings. 
 

 
3.2 Disability 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Hearing Impairment  x   

Physical Impairment x   

Visual Impairment  x  

Learning Disability  x  

Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition x   

Mental Health   x  

Substance Misuse  x  

Other   x  

  

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

People with a hearing impairment may find it more difficult to participate in (or access) 
remote meetings IF they are audio only. 

Page 32



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 3 

 

People with a physical disability may find it easier to participate in (or access) remote 
meetings than if they had to physically attend a meeting. 
People with a long-standing illness or health condition may find it easier to participate 
in (or access) remote meetings than if they had to physically attend a meeting. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
We are seeking IT solutions with audio and video functionality which includes the use 
of caption functionality to provide subtitling for the viewer attending the remote 
meeting. 
 

 
 
3.3 Gender Reassignment 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Transgender People 
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex) 

 X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
 
 
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3.4.  Marriage and Civil Partnership 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership? 
 

 Yes No N/A 

Marriage  x  

Civil Partnership  x  

Page 33



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 4 

 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Pregnancy  x  

Maternity x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
Remote attendance may make it easier for those on maternity to participate in (and 
access) decision making meetings. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
N/A 
 

 
3.6 Race 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

White  X  

Page 34



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 5 

 

Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups  X  

Asian / Asian British  X  

Black / African / Caribbean / Black British  X  

Other Ethnic Groups  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
N/A 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
N/A 
 
 
 

 
3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief  
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Buddhist  X  

Christian  X  

Hindu  X  

Humanist  X  

Jewish  X  

Muslim  X  

Sikh  X  

Other  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
N/A 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
N/A 
 

 
3.8 Sex 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women?  

Page 35



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 6 

 

 

 Yes No N/A 

Men  X  

Women  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
N/A 
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
 
N/A 
 
 

 
3.9 Sexual Orientation 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Bisexual   X  

Gay Men  X  

Gay Women/Lesbians  X  

Heterosexual/Straight  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
N/A 
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
N/A 
 
 
 

 
3.10  Socio-economic Duty 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the Socio-economic Duty?  

Page 36



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 7 

 

 

 Yes No N/A 

 
 

 X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
N/A 
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
N/A 
 
 

 
3.11    Welsh Language 
Will this Policy/ Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact (positive/negative) on the Welsh Language? 
 

 Yes No N/A 

 
 

X   

 

Please give details/ consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
There is currently no secure IT system which offers a simultaneous translation 
functionality, as required under Welsh Language Standards if any person wishes to use 
Welsh at a meeting. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

We are in discussion with the IT Department, Information Governance, other 
Authorities and software providers to identify suitable functionality or processes to 
enhance the use of the Welsh Language at formal meetings.   An initial alternative to 
use a “conference call” facility to supplement the existing ICT provision is being 
developed.  It is hoped that this interim solution will provide those attending the 
meeting with the opportunity to hear a simultaneous Welsh translation.  
 
Plans to improve the translation of Welsh Language at formal meetings are being 
developed and may include:  Welsh/English captioning, the development of existing 
software or processes and the use of alternative secure software. 
 

Page 37



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 8 

 

 

 
4. Consultation and Engagement 
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 
Groups? 
 

 
The remote attendance arrangements are being introduced on an urgent and 
temporary basis to enable COVID related business matters and other urgent business 
to be discharged by the Council.  This has not allowed sufficient time to engage or 
consult with equalities groups. 
 
 

  
5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above] 

 

Groups  Actions 

Age - We will seek to provide all necessary training and 
support for elected Members to enable them to 
participate effectively in remote meetings. 

- We will also endeavour to provide advice and 
assistance for members of the public about how to 
access remote meetings. 

Disability We are seeking IT solutions with audio and video 
functionality. 
 

Gender Reassignment - 

Marriage & Civil 
Partnership 

- 

Pregnancy & Maternity - 

Race - 

Religion/Belief - 

Sex - 

Sexual Orientation - 

Socio-economic Duty - 

Welsh Language We are in discussion with IT providers about simultaneous 
translation functionality and the development of an 
improvement plan to enhance the initial provision.  The 
Chair of the Bilingual Cardiff Member Group and the OM 
Bilingual Cardiff will be actively consulted during the 
development of these plans 

Generic Over-Arching 
[applicable to all the 
above groups] 

 

Page 38



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 9 

 

 
6. Further Action 
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.  
 
7.       Authorisation 
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 
Service Area. 
 

Completed By :  Kumi Ariyadasa Date: 12/05/2020 

Designation: Governance Lawyer 

Approved By:  Gary Jones 

Designation: Head of Democratic Services 

Service Area: Democratic Services 

 
7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on 

your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality 
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken 
in the Council.   

 
For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029 
2087 2536 / 3262 or email equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk                         
 

Page 39

mailto:equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
CARDIFF COUNCIL 
           
 
COUNCIL:            21 MAY 2020 
 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF GOVERNANCE & LEGAL SERVICES 
 

    
LORD MAYOR AND DEPUTY LORD MAYOR ELECT 

 
Reason for this Report  

 
1. To receive nominations for the positions of Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor 

for the 2020 - 2021 Civic Year.  
 

Background  
 

2. The election of the Chair and Vice Chair of Council are determined by a vote of 
the Council at its Annual Meeting and nominations for these positions are sought 
from Party Groups to enable a recommendation to be made.  
 

3. The Members appointed as Chair and Vice Chair are entitled to use the titles The 
Right Honourable the Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor respectively. 
 

Issues  
 

4. The purpose of this report is to seek the nomination of Members for election as 
Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor for 2020 - 2021 Civic Year.  
 

5. It will be necessary for Council to formally elect the Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord 
Mayor at the Annual Meeting of Council.   
 

6. Party Group nominations for these positions have been requested. 
 
 
Legal Implications 
 
7. The Local Government Act 1972 requires that the Chairman of the Council be 

elected annually and that the Vice Chairman be appointed annually.  In neither 
case may that person be a member of the Executive.  The Council has the 
benefit of a Royal Charter permitting the Chairman and Vice Chairman to be 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



known by the style and title of The Right Honourable the Lord Mayor and Deputy 
Lord Mayor respectively. 

 
 
Financial Implications 
 

1. Payments to civic heads are within the remit of the Independent Remuneration 
Panel. For 2020/21, in the case of civic salaries, where paid a civic head must be 
paid a Band 3 salary of £22,918 and where paid, a Deputy Civic Head must be 
paid a Band 5 salary of £17,918 with effect from the 1 April 2020. These amounts 
can be met from within existing budgets. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Council receive and consider nominations for the positions 
of The Right Honourable the Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor elect for the 2020 – 
2021 Civic year. 
 

 
DAVINA FIORE  
Director of Governance and Legal Services  
15 MAY 2020 
 
Background Paper  
The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales Report February 2020  

Page 42



1 

CARDIFF COUNCIL         
CYNGOR CAERDYDD        
           
COUNCIL: 21 MAY 2020 
 
 

JOINT CABINET STATEMENT 
 

 
Introduction 
 
On 23rd March 2020, the UK Government announced a ‘lockdown’ in order to limit the 
spread of the Covid-19 virus. The lockdown has had a major impact on all aspects of 
city life and public services, and the Council has, in response, gone through a period 
of unprecedented change.  
 
In response to the announcement of the lockdown the Council transitioned into an 
‘Essential Services’ model that set out how services would operate. Over the past two 
months our services have had to respond and adapt to the crisis as events continued 
to unfold. Three core principles have, and will, guide the Council’s response:  

 
 Ensuring the resilience of services critical to our Covid-19 response;  

 Doing all we can to protect our most vulnerable citizens and our staff, and;  

 Stopping the spread of the virus.   
 
At all times, we have endeavoured to be as open as possible. We have sought to 
ensure that all members, partners and citizens have been updated on any services 
changes. 
 
Meeting the challenge of Covid-19 has fundamentally relied on the dedication, passion 
and skills of Council staff and of our city’s public servants. The Cabinet would like to 
put on record our thanks for the incredible work that they are doing, and to let them 
know that the Council’s leadership will continue to do everything it takes to support 
them over the course of the crisis. The many comments from members – cross party 
– recognising the contribution of officers and the speed of response in dealing with 
challenges has also been most welcome. 
 
The city’s response has also been characterised by an unprecedented level of 
partnership working, particularly with Cardiff and Vale UHB and with South Wales 
Police. The Cabinet is committed to ensuring that this partnership working continues 
to deepen as we enter the next phase of this crisis, and that we continue to have a 
‘one city’ response from our public services. 
 
Similarly, the Cabinet would like to thank all members for their community leadership 
and commitment to supporting the Council through this period, and to colleagues in 
the Trade Unions who have at all times taken a constructive approach to solving 
problems and delivering essential services in a way that protects our staff. 
 
 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



2 

The Cabinet would also like to thank all the citizens and communities who have 
adhered to social distancing, stayed home and safe, and have played a vital role in 
tackling the spread of the virus. The Cabinet are sure that all members will have taken 
great pride in the response from our local communities, particularly in the work that 
has gone on across Cardiff to help and support vulnerable members of our 
communities. 
 
It has been a real city-wide effort. We are immensely proud of the work that has been 
done to support communities and families over what has been, and will continue to be, 
a very difficult and painful time. We feel the loss of Cardiff citizens keenly, and we 
extend our deepest sympathy to families who have suffered bereavement during this 
crisis. A time will come when we can all come together as a city to grieve for and 
remember those whom we have lost. 
 
It is clear that the city remains in the grip of the pandemic and the Council continues 
to operate on a crisis footing. The Cabinet would emphasise, therefore, that though 
the number of new infections and fatalities in Cardiff has been falling for many weeks, 
the crisis is far from over. Our message to Cardiff remains: stay at home, protect the 
NHS and save lives. 
 
The Welsh Government will be reviewing their regulations in respect of the Covid-19 
crisis on 28th May 2020. Whilst much remains uncertain, it is clear that the months 
ahead will not involve a simple reversion to life pre-Covid. How Council and public 
services will be delivered will need to adapt; how people live their lives, travel, work 
and enjoy themselves in their free time will also need to change. 
 
The Cabinet will adopt a three-stage approach to leading Cardiff’s response to the 
Covid-19 crisis: 
 

 Restart: Restarting & adapting a wide range of council services in the context 
of extended stringent social distancing requirements 

 Recover: A strategic response to support the city to emerge from the crisis 

 Renew: Working closely with city partners, staff and citizens to set out the future 
we want for Cardiff post-crisis, and how together, we will make it happen. 

 

For some weeks the Cabinet has been planning for a gradual restart and adaptation 
of Council services in readiness for lockdown measures being relaxed. At all times, 
our planning has been guided by the following principles: 
 

1. Re-starting services in a way that ensures the safety of staff and citizens. 
2. Prioritising supporting those most vulnerable to the impact of the virus. 
3. Working with partners to restart the city economy and city life in a safe way. 
4. Working at all times working to stop the spread of the virus. 
5. Be open and engaged, and ready to change our approach as we learn more. 

 

Despite the immediate challenges of restarting Council services in accordance with 
the national government guidelines and expert advice from Public Health Wales, the 
work relating to economic recovery has commenced. Discussion have already begun 
with public service providers to develop a strategic response to support the city to  
 
 

Page 44



3 

emerge from the crisis. This engagement work will continue and, going forward, will 
involve all key partners – including the business community – in the days and weeks 
ahead. 
 
The Impact of Covid-19 on Cardiff 
 
The impact of Covid-19 continues to take a devastating toll. The Council, working 
closely with partners including Public Health Wales, have been closely tracking key 
data sets to ensure that the position in Cardiff is well understood. This has involved 
regularly reviewing data published by Public Health Wales and the Office for National 
Statistics (ONS). 
 
The latest ONS figures indicate 265 Covid-19 deaths in Cardiff up to 1st May 2020, 
which includes deaths registered up to 9th May 2020. We know that behind each of 
these numbers is a terrible personal tragedy, and our thoughts are with everyone who 
has been affected. 
 
It is notable that the testing regime in Cardiff has been the highest in Wales. As of 12th 
May 2020, 5,906 tests were undertaken in Cardiff, according to figures from Public 
Health Wales. Whilst it is recognised that a more comprehensive testing regime would 
be expected to reveal a greater number of confirmed cases, it is also notable that less 
than a third (31.3%) of tests have been positive. 
 
Of the 265 deaths registered in Cardiff, 140 have occurred in hospitals and 100 in care 
homes. Analysis undertaken by Public Health Wales demonstrates that the mortality 
rate – directly or indirectly due to Covid-19 – is consistent with that of other Core Cities 
when ‘excess deaths’ are considered. This suggests that, in terms of additional deaths, 
Cardiff is not an outlier but does have a greater number of deaths attributing Covid-19 
as a contributor. A greater proportion of death certificates in Cardiff mentioning Covid-
19 may be due to guidance issued by the South Wales Coroner encouraging Cardiff-
based clinicians to recognise Covid-19 on the death certificate, a practice not 
necessarily replicated elsewhere across the UK. 
 
Many will be aware of the impact on vulnerable groups, with the situation in care 
homes the subject of national media attention. Within Cardiff, there are 75 care homes 
for older people and over 50 domiciliary care providers who have been providing 
essential care and support to the city’s most vulnerable residents during the Covid-19 
crisis. 
 
From the onset of the crisis, care homes and domiciliary care providers have played 
a very important role in supporting the NHS, enabling people who were medically fit to 
be discharged safely. This has helped ensure hospitals have sufficient capacity 
throughout the crisis. The significantly greater risks presented by Covid-19 to care 
home and domiciliary care residents was also identified and responded to early. Social 
services officers have been working in close partnership with public protection 
specialists within Shared Regulatory Services, the Council’s Health & Safety team, the 
NHS primary care division, public health specialists and the care providers themselves 
to support effective multi-agency management of any outbreaks in care homes. This 
work included a strong emphasis on preventative measures, as well as advice on high 
standards of infection control, access to Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), testing 
of staff and residents and support to workforce. The work has been very challenging 

Page 45



4 

and continues to have the highest priority given the Council’s absolute focus on 
safeguarding the city’s most vulnerable residents. 
 
A significant component of this work involved responding quickly to ensure that the 
whole social care workforce had the appropriate PPE to enable them to safely provide 
personal care services. As part of the wider package of support, Care First well-being 
support was made available to the whole social care sector workforce. This helped 
ensure that all social care workers had access to the right support for their well-being, 
health and safety. More broadly, provider financial sustainability has been supported 
by work undertaken to understand the cost pressures on providers as a consequence 
of the pandemic. In line with Welsh Government guidance on the £40m allocated 
across the whole of Wales to support adult social care during the pandemic, the 
Council has established financial arrangements allowing providers to support their 
workforce in the event of any reduction in demand for domiciliary care and care home 
services. 
 
Councillors will also be aware of growing evidence suggesting Covid-19 infection is 
having a disproportionate impact on people with Black, Asian or minority ethnic 
(BAME) backgrounds. The Council recognise that this is a distressing time for many 
and the Welsh Government is undertaking urgent work to understand the factors 
involved. As the First Minister stated recently, there are many possible reasons for this 
disproportionality, such as higher rates of underlying health conditions, pre-existing 
inequalities, increased exposure to Covid-19 as the result of work they may do and 
other vulnerabilities. The Welsh Government has established a national advisory 
group to examine this issue, which the Council will support in full. 
 

Finance 
 
The Covid-19 virus and associated lockdown measures have had significant financial 
implications for the Council, both in terms of additional costs and loss of income.  
 
In respect of expenditure, during the first quarter of the 2020/21 financial year, the 
Council estimates additional costs of over £18m are likely in responding to the crisis. 
These costs include, but are not limited to: 
 

 The procurement of PPE to support the ongoing delivery of Council services as 
well as the wider care sector 

 The provision of emergency accommodation to support homeless people 
during the pandemic 

 The continued provision of food / financial assistance to those entitled to free 
school meals, given  the closure of schools 

 The provision of support to domiciliary and residential care providers to reflect 
the additional costs of providing care during the pandemic, and to support their 
ongoing viability  

 The provision of supplier relief, paid in accordance with Government guidelines, 
in order to ensure service continuity both during and after the current Covid-19 
outbreak 

 The costs incurred to deliver widespread operational changes necessary to 
ensure the safe delivery of services, for example, the disposal of waste and the 
delivery of bereavement services. 

 

Page 46



5 

The £18m additional expenditure is an estimate that is being kept under constant 
review, and is being updated regularly as further pressures emerge. These include for 
example assessing the financial impact of a significant increase in the number of 
applications for Council Tax Support and current efforts to establish effective ‘Contact 
Track and Trace’ services locally as part of an all-Wales initiative. 
 
In respect of income, during the first quarter of 2020/21, the Council estimates that it 
will lose income in excess of £11m as a direct result of Covid-19. Lost income during 
the lock-down includes the closure of the Council’s cultural and sporting venues such 
as theatres, Cardiff Castle, Cardiff International White Water and City Hall functions. 
It also reflects a reduction in activity in other income generating areas including 
planning, parking, moving traffic offences, trade waste, registration and school 
catering. As with expenditure, this estimate will be monitored closely and updated as 
required. Over time the assessment of further income streams will need to be analysed 
with the most significant being the potential for any impact on the collection of Council 
Tax this year. 
 
A key consideration linked to the expenditure and income pressures issues 
encountered during the crisis has been the potential for cash flow issues to occur for 
the Council. Local Government in Wales through the WLGA has worked 
collaboratively and positively with Welsh Government to facilitate accelerated 
payments of the Revenue Support Grant and other grant payments in April and May 
of this year. This has mitigated the risk of any issues for the Council and has supported 
not only the expenditure and income pressures but has also allowed the rapid and 
significant outlay in relation to the payment of business grants.  
 
In terms of funding to support the crisis, it is anticipated that the additional expenditure 
outlined above will be claimed back from the Welsh Government through the Covid-
19 Hardship Fund. This fund, currently totalling £110m, includes an initial tranche of 
£30m general support, £40m for Adult Social Care, £33m for Free School Meals and 
£7m for smaller ring-fenced commitments. It is likely that the current funding available 
will be insufficient to cover all expenditure requirements at an all Wales level and 
lobbying is continuing for further tranches of support, recognising there will be 
decisions by the UK government on future expenditure in response to this crisis which 
would impact on consequential funding for Wales. It is also important to note that, as 
yet, no decision has been made by the Welsh Government on whether income loss 
will be reimbursed although some announcement on this is due shortly following 
positive discussions between the Welsh Government and Local Authorities. 
 
Finally, in terms of funding, the position is constantly evolving in response to Welsh 
and Central Government announcements and further clarity is required on other 
funding allocations that have been made, including the £95m Barnett consequential of 
£1.6bn additional funding for English Councils announced on 18th April 2020. 
 
Expenditure claims for reimbursement from the Covid-19 Hardship Fund are submitted 
to Welsh Government on a monthly basis, with a view to recovering cash payments 
made in the previous month. To date, the Council has received £465,000 as a full 
reimbursement for the claim covering the latter weeks of March 2020. As this was a 
partial month’s claim for the early weeks of the pandemic, it is anticipated that claims 
for subsequent months will be well in excess of this figure. There is an element of risk 
regarding the ongoing recovery of costs. In particular, whilst current funding 

Page 47



6 

arrangements are confirmed to the end of June 2020, it looks increasingly likely that 
challenges will extend beyond that timeframe. 
 
In terms of broader financial planning arrangements, there will be a need to consider 
and fully capture the implications of moving towards what is likely to be a “new normal” 
as lockdown restrictions are eased and the recovery phase begins. This is likely to 
include the impact of exit strategies for service changes put in place during the 
pandemic. It is also likely that some services may need to be reframed or adjusted in 
order to accommodate ongoing risk minimisation measures, including social 
distancing. There may be significant financial implications in this regard, with income 
streams in particular likely to take a considerable time to revert back to normal levels. 
 
In light of these challenges, monitoring of the Council’s budgetary position in 2020/21 
will be more critical than ever, and work has already commenced in this regard. As 
well as seeking to identify costs specific to the Covid-19 outbreak and the extent to 
which they may be recoverable, the more ‘business as usual’ position for services is 
being kept under close scrutiny, including the extent to which the delivery of 2020/21 
savings has been affected.  The crisis to date and its recovery phases ahead, 
necessitates that the 2020/21 Budget set in February 2020 will need to be kept under 
close review. It is the intention that an updated Medium Term Financial Plan will be 
taken to Council in the summer, hopefully in July 2020, which will be able to reflect the 
known and anticipated impact on the 2020/21 budget. As well as providing additional 
clarity with regard to the current financial year, this will enable work on budget setting 
for 2021/22 to progress. 
 
Schools and Childcare 
 
Pre-school Key Worker Childcare 
 
New guidance issued by the Welsh Government has required that the grant provided 
to Local Authorities for the Childcare Offer for Wales is to be suspended for three 
months from 1st April 2020. The Childcare Offer for Wales is temporarily replaced by 
the Coronavirus Childcare Assistance Scheme (C-CAS). This change was put in place 
to allow the funding to be used to support critical key workers with their childcare costs 
(if they require childcare in order to continue working) and to support vulnerable 
children during the Covid-19 crisis. 
 
A number of teams are working behind the scenes to make C-CAS happen, ensuring 
that these children and those providing the childcare are fully supported. Applications 
are being processed through the Family Gateway in partnership with the Education 
department.  Staff in the Childcare Offer and Childcare Business Support teams are 
ensuring childcare providers are supported in their work by processing claims for 
payments and providing Personal Protective Equipment to childcare providers. 
 
As of 1st May 2020, 79 applications for pre-school key worker childcare had been 
received. The number of eligible applications and placements confirmed is 77 (17 day-
care settings and 60 childminders). 405 children have been benefiting from the 
scheme, with providers caring for in excess of 300 children each day. 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



7 

School-based Childcare Hubs 
 
24 hub schools are now open in Cardiff for the children of key workers. This has 
increased from 16 in March when schools were first closed. On average, childcare is 
provided for around 370 pupils each day, representing approximately 35% of the total 
number of children registered. The 24 school-based childcare hubs that are open are: 
 

 Primary Hubs – Bryn Hafod; Pontprennau; Whitchurch Primary; Danescourt; 
Coed Glas; Moorland; Peter Lea; Marlborough; Hywel Dda; Windsor Clive; 
Rhydypenau; Lakeside; Ninian Park; Rumney 

 Welsh-medium Primary Hubs – Glan Ceubal; Llanishen Fach; Melin 
Gruffydd; Ysgol y Wern, Ysgol Treganna 

 Secondary Hubs – Cathays; Glan Taf 

 Special Hubs – Ty Gwyn; Bryn y Deryn; Hollies 
 
Vulnerable Learners 
 
Many vulnerable learners are able to access their local mainstream hub, with 
appropriate support and planning, but a vulnerable learners hub has also been 
established at the Pupil Referral Unit, providing half-day sessions for up to 20 Key 
Stage 3 and Key Stage 4 learners who would be unable to access a childcare hub due 
to their social and emotional needs. 
 
Specialist sessions for primary-aged children with social and emotional needs are 
under discussion. A small number of visually or hearing-impaired children have been 
identified as needing some access to a hub and this will be supported by specialist 
teachers. Two special school hubs are operating from Ty Gwyn and from Hollies, 
providing key worker childcare and places for some vulnerable learners. 
 
Schools have compiled vulnerable learner registers, and are keeping in touch with 
families at least once a week, more if there are concerns, and working with other 
agencies as necessary. 
 
Education, Children’s Services and the Family Gateway have established a Vulnerable 
Learners Panel meeting daily to discuss children/ young people where there are 
significant concerns about safety and welfare. Schools can refer to the panel, or cases 
may be escalated by one of the partner agencies. For a small number, where safety 
and welfare concerns outweigh consideration of social distancing and potential spread 
of Covid-19, sessional attendance at a hub is offered. 
 
Supporting Learning at Home 
 
Schools have worked to enable pupils to continue learning at home, with support from 
the Council and Central South Consortium Joint Education Service. Prior to the 
shutdown of schools, the Council set up a series of online platforms via Hwb (Google 
sites, Classrooms and a WhatsApp group) to provide teachers with resources, 
demonstrate examples of good practice, encourage them to support each other, 
provide answers to pressing questions and give teachers and teaching assistants the 
opportunity to engage in professional learning opportunities. 
 
 

Page 49



8 

Education staff are currently working with the Consortium and Welsh Government to 
help develop the Continuity of Learning Plan and associated websites on Hwb. The 
Welsh Government has also announced the Stay Safe Stay Learning policy, which 
includes guidance and resources for schools, parents and carers. 
 
Admissions 
 

 Primary Offers: The initial round of primary offers was published on time on 16th 
April 2020 and parents had until 30th April 2020 to accept or decline their offers. 

 
- 3,588 reception places were offered in community schools. 
- 95.5% (3,427) children applying secured one of their preferences. 
- 89.7% (3,218) children applying secured their first preference.  
- 4.5% (161) children did not secure any of their preferred reception places. 
- 485 reception places now remain in community schools (85 Welsh-medium, 

400 English-medium).    
- 100% of applications received online. 
- Six community primary schools have catchment demand in excess of supply 

(four English-medium, two Welsh-medium). 
 

 Nursery Offer: The initial round of nursery offers was published on time on 27th 
April 2020 for those children due to start in September 2020 who will be aged 4 
during the school year. Of 1,811 applications, all but 9 children secured their first 
preference. 

 
A second round of applications is currently being considered (from 12th May 2020), 
with results going out in late May/early June 2020. 
 

Children’s Services 
 
Children’s Services have had to rapidly adapt working practices to ensure that services 
to vulnerable children and families have continued to be delivered. To do this the team 
has focussed on those that need support the most, especially at this challenging time. 
This has demanded a greatly increased use of technology to talk to each other as well 
with service users, reducing the need to direct contact while social distancing is 
required. The approach has been well-received by the young people the service work 
with. A survey has been developed to learn from young people and their families about 
how the Covid-19 crisis has impacted on them, and what changes have worked well 
for them. The results will be used to inform our plans to restart, recover and renew our 
services going forward. 
 
Cardiff Parenting 
 
During the Covid-19 crisis, Cardiff Parenting 0-18 continue to accept new referrals 
through the Family Gateway and Flying Start Parenting from colleagues. The 
Parenting Teams are currently working with 289 families, who continue to receive their 
weekly contact by phone or video call to replace the home visit they would have 
otherwise received. The families also have access to the Cardiff Parenting and Flying 
Start Facebook pages which are updated regularly and contain useful ideas for 
activities at home, resources and relevant information for families. Flying Start Stay 
and Play sessions have been replaced by activities to try at home including story times 
and craft ideas with materials found in the home. Going forward, the teams are 

Page 50



9 

preparing a weekly group-based video programme and resource packs to be delivered 
to families in conjunction with additional personalised support. 
 
Cardiff Family Advice & Support 
 
Cardiff Family Advice and Support remains open for business.  The Family Gateway 
have taken over 1,000 calls and responded to more than 300 emails since lockdown 
and the Family Help Advisers are working with over 318 families whose cases have 
either come through the Gateway or through step down through the Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH) or the Support4Families teams in Children’s Services.  
 
Teams are using a host of communication channels to provide families with the 
information, advice and assistance that they need.  They are working with other 
partners such as RISE, South Wales Police and the Barnardo’s Well-Being Service 
where referrals to other services are appropriate. 
 
Early Help Police Community Support Officers are helping to undertake welfare 
checks to vulnerable families, where these are needed. They have also supported the 
delivery of PPE to childcare providers and have agreed to support the delivery of 
resource packs to families, where these are required. 
 
Support4Families 
 
Support4Families continue to provide support on a virtual basis. Visits are only taking 
place when it is deemed that a family may require a statutory intervention and the 
family are referred to Intake & Assessment at that point. 
 
Safeguarding Guidance 
 
The Council has developed guidance to share within Children’s Services and with 
partners to ensure partners are aware of how we are operating during the Covid-19 
crisis. The guidance provides advice for colleagues and is subject to ongoing review 
and change as we move through the Covid-19 crisis. We understand that at this time 
a number of factors which may impact on parenting may increase concerns for 
professionals and members of the public. As the lead safeguarding agency, the 
Council needs to ensure that all services and multi-agency working continue to protect 
children and young people across Cardiff. 
 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub and Intake & Assessment 
 
Referrals continue to be received by the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (2,048 since 
lockdown) and methods for professionals and members of the public to contact MASH 
remain unchanged. Daily domestic violence discussions continue to be held with 
partners to assess risk, gain updates and escalate any cases to strategy discussion, 
if necessary. Strategy discussions / meetings with partners are held virtually and child 
protection investigations and well-being assessments continue to be undertaken by 
Intake & Assessment. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



10 

Locality Teams 
 
All children known to Children’s Services have been risk assessed and the risk ratings 
continue to be reviewed regularly with oversight by managers. A duty system is in 
place to ensure that we are in touch with all families and home visits are undertaken 
remotely where it is practicable to do so. In light of the availability of PPE, we have 
started reintroducing face-to-face visits – all children who are on the Child Protection 
Register have been seen and plans are in place for all children who are placed with 
parents on a Care Order to receive a face-to-face visit within the next two weeks. 
Following this, these children will continue to receive a face-to-face visit at a minimum of 
once every 5 weeks. Plans to extend this to children with a care and support plan, 
children who are looked after in placements other than fostering or residential and care 
leavers are under development. Operational Manager authorisation is currently required 
for all face-to-face visits. 
 
Safeguarding 
 
Initial and Review child protection case conferences are taking place virtually, as are 
children looked after reviews. Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) speak to children 
before their reviews to ascertain their views and wishes. IROs speak to all parties to 
enable them to track and monitor plans. IROs continue to liaise with National Youth 
Advocacy Service to ensure appropriate advocacy arrangements are in place before 
each review. 
 
Adolescent Service 
 
The Adolescent Service continues to facilitate and chair exploitation strategy meetings 
for high risk young people as required. Staff continue to provide support to young 
people and their families on a virtual basis, including young people who are in prison. 
The Adolescent Resource Centre undertake visits when agreed by the Operational 
Manager for high risk cases of placement breakdown and where there are significant 
concerns about safety. 
 
Pre- Proceedings / Court Proceedings 
 
The Public Law Outline panel continues to consider cases where children are deemed 
to be at significant risk of harm. Applications for Court continue to be made and 
hearings are being held virtually wherever possible. It has been acknowledged by the 
local judiciary that it will not be possible to stick to timescales in all cases. Genuine 
reasons for delay in court work will be accepted and decisions will be made on a case 
by case basis following legal advice. 
 
Children looked after and placements 
 
Supervised contact between children looked after and their families continues to be 
provided on a virtual basis. Decision making in relation to placements is being 
undertaken by the Children’s Management Team as a group so all Operational 
Managers have oversight of placement arrangements and arising issues. Social 
workers for children in in house fostering placements are working closely with 
Fostering social workers to support children in placements, particularly for placements  
 

Page 52



11 

that are at risk of breaking down. Fostering social workers are making regular contact 
with in house foster carers to ensure they are receiving the support that they require. 
We are in regular contact with providers who are currently reporting that they are 
managing the crisis well. 
 
The Fostering Service front door has moved to the Into Work Service who now receive 
all telephone calls and online contacts and complete the initial screening before 
referring to the Fostering Service for initial assessment. Skills to Foster training is 
being provided online and all contact is currently virtual. No approvals have been 
delayed due to the Covid-19 crisis as all prospective foster carers either received a 
face to face visit before the crisis commenced, or have not yet required one. 
 
Crosslands residential home remains open and operating on a staffing level of 83%. 
10 members of staff have been repurposed to Crosslands. Ty Storrie (respite 
provision) is currently offering alternative provision in response to the Covid-19 crisis 
and are operating on 75% staffing levels. 14 members of staff have been repurposed 
to Ty Storrie. 
 
Work is ongoing to map out demand for placements to ensure sufficiency of local 
provision, in line with the Commissioning Strategy that was approved before the Covid-
19 crisis hit. 4 additional local beds are being secured and we are currently matching 
young people to this accommodation to enable them to return from high cost out of 
area placements. Work is ongoing to secure additional residential beds and to 
understand the demand for, and availability of, provision via the young person’s 
Housing Gateway. 
 
Workforce 
 
The focus on recruitment has continued during the Covid-19 crisis and social workers 
continue to be appointed and take up post. The final appointment to new senior 
management posts has been made and the appointee will be in post by the end of the 
month. A Care and Support team, staffed with temporary support workers has been 
established to manage cases rated “green” and oversight of the children with 
disabilities has been retained within Children’s Services for the duration of the crisis. 
Additional measures, such as mindfulness sessions have been put in place to support 
the health and well-being of staff who have experienced an immediate and significant 
change to their working conditions (i.e. working from home for most of the time). There 
is regular communication with frontline staff and visibility of decision making and 
accessibility of Operational Managers to teams has improved. A survey has been 
developed to learn from their experience during the Covid-19 crisis and the results will 
be used to inform our plans to restart, recover and renew our services going forward. 
A review of the skill mix of the service has been commenced and will take account of 
experience from our response to the Covid-19 crisis. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



12 

Supporting Businesses 
 
Business Grants 
 
The Council’s Finance team in conjunction with the Economic Development team have 
processed approximately 4,170 applications for business grants announced by the UK 
Government to support businesses during the Covid-19 crisis. Using a new computer 
system built by the ICT department in a matter of days, payments totalling £56.8M 
have been made up to 6th May 2020. To provide extra support to local businesses, 
business rate payments have also been deferred. 
 
Economic Development 
 
Councillors will appreciate that the experience of the past eight weeks is 
unprecedented, certainly in peacetime, and the impact on the national economy, let 
alone the Cardiff economy, is extremely challenging. In response to this national crisis, 
the Council’s Economic Development team has been in touch with some 7,000 local 
businesses and has responded to over 3,000 individual enquiries since the emergency 
began. The team have worked closely with the range of business networks and 
representative groups such as the CBI, Federation of Small Businesses, Institute of 
Directors and FOR Cardiff. Together the Economic Development team have shaped 
the city’s response to the crisis and will continue to do so.  
 
The Council’s Estates division has deferred collection of business rents for the first 
quarter of 2020/21 from tenants in Council-owned properties and will continue to keep 
the matter under review until information is provided regarding what Welsh 
Government compensation will be available. 
 
The Economic Development team has also assisted in delivering a range of other 
Council initiatives designed to support local people from sourcing much-needed hand 
sanitiser to raising over £100,000 to support the various food schemes designed to 
ensure that food parcels get to those who need them. The Cabinet are enormously 
impressed and extremely grateful for the generous way that Cardiff-based businesses 
have responded to our appeal for financial and practical support at this critical time. 
They have made a vital contribution to the Council’s response.  
 
Looking forward, the city’s economy will continue to face significant challenges 
because of this crisis. The Office of Budget Responsibility suggests that the UK 
economy will see a fall in economic output of around a third of GDP during the current 
quarter, with Cardiff experiencing a similar fall. It is likely that outside Cardiff, Wales 
will fare considerably worse. Many businesses have seen their income reduce to zero 
and whilst many have received financial support via the various Government schemes, 
we are aware that some have not been able to access those support schemes and the 
Cabinet Member for Investment and Development will continue to lobby for and help 
those businesses who need further support. 
 
During these unprecedented times, it has become extremely clear that a local 
economic development capability with a business support function is vital to ensure 
an effective response. Local knowledge of the business environment is essential in 
such times of crisis. We also know that we are far from the end of the crisis, and that  
 

Page 54



13 

in coming months there will be even more reliance on the work of the Council to 
support our local businesses. The immediate revival of the Cardiff economy will be 
crucial to the recovery of the wider South Wales economy, such that it will be critical 
for the Council to maintain a clear focus on the measures required to ensure that 
recovery occurs as soon as possible. 
 
The Economic Development team continues to receive investment enquiries and they 
continue to work closely with those undertaking major projects in the city and those 
working with the Council to take forward other components of the Administration’s 
Capital Ambition programme. It is clear that those businesses, along with other 
businesses across Cardiff, are changing the way they work to meet the challenges. It 
is essential that together our city’s businesses can respond to this crisis, and emerge 
stronger on the other side. 
 

Advice and Enquiries 
 
Adviceline 
 
Due to the Covid-19 crisis, Hubs are closed to the public on a drop-in basis and 
operate by appointment only. Exceptions are made for emergency matters such as 
the collection of key fobs, alley gate keys and foodbank parcels. Customers are now 
signposted to the Adviceline for enquires on benefits, housing, food, ‘shielding’ and 
money advice. To deal with this demand, the Adviceline has increased the incoming 
lines from 4 to 33 and staff have been re-deployed from many other service areas 
across Housing & Communities. This has resulted in over 250 calls being answered a 
day, an increase of over 1,000%. The team are able to resolve many of the enquiries 
over the phone, resulting in a low number of face-to-face appointments being required. 
 
An intensive advertising campaign was launched to promote the Adviceline. This 
included social media, letters to Council tenants, emails to partners and stakeholder 
groups and advertising on Smooth and Heart radio stations. This was to ensure that 
the word was spread as quickly as possible of the help on offer. Customers are also 
supported and encouraged to complete claims online for benefits, Free School Meals, 
Council Tax Reduction, housing and schools admissions.  
 
Staff from across the department have been re-trained in the areas that are likely to 
have the greatest demand for support. For example, Library staff have been trained 
on Council enquiries, Hub staff have been trained on benefit assessment and Money 
Advice staff have been trained on different aspects of Council and housing enquiries. 
 
The Advice teams are working with different services to ensure each customer 
receives an all-round exceptional service by signposting and referring to Age Connect, 
Floating Support, Independent Living Services and the Volunteer Cardiff website. Staff 
are encouraged and reminded to practice social distancing at all times when in the 
Hubs. There has been a real supportive attitude across the service, with everyone 
pulling together to help each other, regardless of the team they normally work in.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



14 

Connect 2 Cardiff 
 
Connect 2 Cardiff (C2C) has continued to offer a full service during lockdown and has 
even extended the operational hours on digital channels to 8pm with provisions in 
place for potential weekend work if needed. There are now 33 contact centre staff fully 
set up and working from home on a daily basis, with calls being answered remotely 
for the first time since C2C’s conception. 
 
Since 23rd March 2020, staff have handled over 31,554 calls, which includes 4,125 
calls for Council housing repairs; 4,464 queries relating to public health and 551 calls 
relating to Council Tax financial hardship as a result of Covid-19. Over 11,000 digital 
contacts have been handled successfully since 23rd March 2020, with an increase of 
52% on the live chat channel. 
 

Food Distribution 
 
Free School Meals 
 
As the effects of the Covid-19 crisis have evolved following the Welsh Government’s 
closure of schools from 23rd March 2020, so has the provision of Free School Meals. 
A great deal of effort went into the distribution of grab bags for eligible children and 
young people across the city during the first two weeks of lockdown. Following that, a 
voucher scheme was put in place for a period of four weeks for those eligible for Free 
School Meals. 
 
Arrangements are now in place to transfer the necessary funds directly into the 
accounts of parents and carers via ParentPay. This will provide parents and carers 
with more flexibility on where they can shop and officers have worked with ParentPay 
to ensure that all schools in Cardiff are now signed up to the system.  
 
For those families who are not able to access ParentPay, the voucher scheme will 
continue to be offered and additional support is in place for vulnerable families. The 
Council will also be cross-checking the list of eligible families against ParentPay and 
voucher usage to ensure that parents and carers are taking up the help that is available 
to them. 
 
Meals on Wheels 
 
The Covid-19 crisis has resulted in significant growth of the Meals on Wheels Service, 
together with an increased recognition of the value of this service to the health and 
well-being of vulnerable people. The service now delivers over 2,400 meals every 
week to 481 customers, of which 77% receive meals on a weekend.  
 
Meals on Wheels drivers are also conducting welfare checks for Social Services on 
those people on the shielding list (80-90 checks a week). In addition, Meals on Wheels 
are providing meals and sandwiches for two hotels across the city providing 
accommodation for the homeless in partnership with Youth Foods and provided 4,974 
meals in April 2020. 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



15 

Youth Foods 
 
Councillors will be pleased to learn of the remarkable efforts of Youth Foods in 
providing food for the most vulnerable people in Cardiff during the recent lockdown.  
This joint initiative with the GMB union, which is based at County Hall, has seen in 
excess of 11,500 hot meals and 12,000 sandwich and cake packs being prepared by 
the team including young apprentice chefs. As mentioned above, delivery to the elderly 
and the homeless in temporary accommodation was undertaken by our Meals on 
Wheels Team. 
 
The Youth Foods initiative was set up to provide important vocational training 
opportunities for young people who are not currently in education, employment or 
training - ultimately young people who are at risk of being left behind. The current 
service provided is a clear demonstration of the contribution that young people can 
make to society at this very challenging time. The Cabinet want to place on record our 
gratitude for their efforts and to say how proud we are of what they achieved at a 
critical time. 
 
Advice 
 
By far, the most enquires received on the Adviceline have been around the need for 
food during these difficult times. Robust and timely processes were quickly established 
to ensure that no matter what the circumstance, residents of the city were able to 
access food.  
 
Working in partnership with the Cardiff Foodbank, Food Cardiff and Public Health 
Wales, a quick solution was available to all that needed help. This included setting up 
a significant food operation based in Dominions Way library stacks. Staff and 
volunteers came together to support those who were self-isolating and needed parcels 
delivered to their door.  
 
To date, the teams have distributed nearly 4,000 parcels of which 3,500 have been 
delivered to the front doors of those that have self-isolated. This effort has seen all 
sectors working together to support the community, from the Council, third sector, 
businesses (who have donated food and money to the cause) volunteers, Public 
Health Wales and community groups. 
 

Health & Safety 
 
Responding to the pandemic has placed significant demands on the Council’s Health 
and Safety function, which has been central to the organisation’s strategic and 
operational response.  A primary focus has been the provision of proactive support for 
staff – particularly frontline staff in key sectors – who may be at risk of heightened 
exposure to Covid-19.  From the onset the Council’s Health and Safety team have 
promptly issued comprehensive guidance to support staff and service users, which is 
consistent with national guidance and is responsive to emerging issues. This has 
included developing and issuing guidance in relation to cleaning and personal hygiene, 
physical distancing and the use of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE). This 
guidance has been widely communicated and includes material such as instruction 
videos essential for the safe delivery of critical services during the lockdown period.   
 

Page 57



16 

Supporting the safe operation of Childcare Hub’s has also been a priority, with 
guidance, onsite support and the supply of hygiene equipment and PPE all crucial to 
the success of the service.  Broader infection control measures are ongoing across 
the Council, with significant support provided to residential settings. This work will be 
extended across all Council premises as and when the stringent lockdown measures 
are eased.  Recognising that a large number of Council staff have had to rapidly 
transition to home working, a Home Working Project is also currently underway. With 
announcements by the Prime Minister and the First Minister indicating that those who 
can work from home should continue to do so, the Health and Safety team are actively 
working to ensure the well-being of staff and place homeworking arrangements on a 
more sustainable footing. This approach provides further support to those staff who 
must continue to work from home for the foreseeable future whilst supporting the 
Council to adhere with social distancing requirements.      
 
Another key component of the work has been supporting mental health and well-being 
of staff and elected members.  Those who are isolating due to any known vulnerability 
have received keeping in touch welfare calls from Occupational Health, linking them 
to other services/resources where required.  Additional counselling and CBT services 
have been contracted to further support staff who have been affected, either directly 
or indirectly, by the virus.  As the crisis continues, the Council is now in the 8th week 
of issuing weekly resources and webinars to support mental health and well-being, 
which compliments the well-being group support established for front line staff.  
Recognising the impact Covid-19 has had on the Social Care sector in particular, the 
Council has extended its Employee Support Programme to 4,000 private care provider 
staff contracted by the Council, to ensure they receive the essential counselling and 
well-being support they will need at this most difficult time.               
 

Personal Protective Equipment 
 
The national challenges associated with the supply and distribution of Personal 
Protective Equipment (PPE) is widely recognised. The Council’s ongoing work with 
partners has, however, ensured that PPE has been getting to the staff that need it, 
despite the national challenges. 
 
Guidance was received from Public Health Wales setting out PPE requirements within 
care homes and care settings, including within citizen’s homes across the city. The 
Council has moved swiftly to ensure that logistical challenges with sourcing and 
distribution were met. Officers from across the Council have worked closely with Welsh 
Government and also collaboratively with local suppliers and their supply chains to 
ensure that our PPE requirements as a city and council could be fulfilled within very 
short timescales, whilst also ensuring that value for money is achieved. 
 
The Council’s proactive approach to the procurement of PPE has helped ensure that 
the demand has been met, securing the health and safety of the council and wider 
care sector workforce. As part of this approach a governance structure was put in 
place, with daily meetings to ensure that issues were considered as they emerged and 
decisions could be made in a timely manner. Whilst challenging, appropriate 
processes were rapidly established to ensure that care providers have the PPE they 
needed to look after the vulnerable people of Cardiff. 
 
 

Page 58



17 

As the arrangements for collecting and distributing PPE evolved, it has been possible 
to transition from a collection service to direct delivery to care homes, ensuring that 
essential frontline workers do not have to step away from their duties. To date 
1,150,000 pieces of PPE has been provided to key workers within Cardiff. Every effort 
will continue to be made to equip frontline workers as they carry out the vital work of 
looking after our older and vulnerable people during these unprecedented times. 
 
Moving forward, it is recognised that the demand for PPE will significantly increase 
as and when the lockdown eases, particularly in circumstances where social 
distancing will be difficult to enforce. Work is therefore ongoing to ensure that all 
Council services, particularly key areas of delivery such as schools and early years, 
receive the required support. 
 

Homelessness & Council Housing 
 
Homelessness 
 
Services have responded rapidly to ensure that those living in emergency 
accommodation and those who were living on the street were cared for during the 
pandemic and could self-isolate effectively. Two hotels have been opened with support 
and security staff on site 24/7. Isolation units have been set up at the shipping 
container sites, with support on site to help homeless people who are symptomatic. 
Food is also being provided across hotel and hostel accommodation to help clients 
stay indoors. 
 
Substance misuse services have rapidly developed to meet the needs of clients during 
the pandemic. Many clients are more receptive to services than ever before, as the 
lack of begging opportunities means that they cannot afford to buy drugs. The 
multidisciplinary partnership has responded well to this, bringing services into the 
hotels and hostels and developing the use of the new and improved drug substitute, 
Buvidal. 
 
Staff from across Housing and the wider council have been redeployed into the hostel 
service to deliver this change. Officers from tenancy management, finance, caretaking 
and legal services have volunteered to staff the hostels and deliver this change. 
 
The use of hotels has not been without its challenges, both for the officers operating 
them and the local communities; however, they have demonstrated the success that 
can be achieved in tackling homelessness if the right accommodation and support is 
available. 
 
More than 140 clients have been housed and only five very entrenched rough sleepers 
remain on the streets, only a few months ago the number of rough sleepers was in the 
80s. This is a huge achievement and one that must be sustained into the future. Longer 
term planning is now underway to sustain and build on this success. 
 
Council Housing Development 
 
The Covid-19 crisis has impacted the progress of delivering new Council homes, with 
the buy backs scheme and the Courtenay Road scheme in Splott most impacted. The  

Page 59



18 

buy backs scheme effectively stopped once the lockdown was implemented and the 
crisis is still affecting the Council’s ability to complete on purchases that have been 
agreed as onward chains have stalled.  
 
The Courtenay Road scheme consists of 30 Council flats and was due at the end of 
March 2020; however, the contractor ceased all site operations due to issues with the 
subcontracted workforce and the supply of materials as a result of the Covid-19 crisis. 
This scheme will complete shortly with plans for the contractor to remobilise. Despite 
these issues, the overall cumulative target of 400 completed homes was short by only 
84 properties resulting in cumulative completions of 316 by 31st March 2020. 
 

Adult Services 
 
Shielded People 
 
To date, nearly 10,000 people have been written to in Cardiff by the Chief Medical 
Officer, advising them that they need to ‘shield’ for 12 weeks. This number increases 
regularly as GPs refer their patients onto the list and Welsh Government include 
different illnesses that need to be added too.  
 
The Adviceline has provided advice and support to this cohort, who are some of the 
most vulnerable people in the city. A robust system has been set up to ensure that 
those who need the Welsh Government parcels are able to access them easily and 
quickly. Safety net measures have also been put into place to ensure that for those 
who need food urgently, or who have specific dietary requirements or need help to 
take the food into their home, the Food Team based in Dominions Way can create a 
bespoke response.  
 
To date, the Adviceline and Social Services have had contact with just under 8,500 of 
those who are shielded. Letters have been sent from the Council’s Chief Executive 
and Leader of the Council to those who have not had contact so far.  
 
Finally, a team of staff have been deployed to knock on people’s front doors, who are 
shielded to ensure they are safe and to make sure they have everything they need. 
The team are determined to have contact with everyone who has been identified as 
needing to shield.  
 
First Point of Contact Hospital 
 
Our First Point of Contact Hospital Team, locally known as the Pink Army, is working 
side-by-side at the Dragon’s Heart Hospital within Principality Stadium with the 
Transfer of Care Team. Demonstrating their versatility, the team will provide this 
support in addition to maintaining the service to Health colleagues and patients at the 
University Hospital of Wales. The team are a single point of contact working with 
clinicians, patients and families to expedite safe timely discharge, provide tailored 
information, advice and assistance, reduce the risk of readmission and promote 
independent living. To date, 119 patients have been reviewed in partnership with the 
Transfer of Care Team to determine the most appropriate discharge pathway. Through 
this work, 84 patients have been supported to remain independent when discharged 
from hospital and 12 patients have been supported at the Dragon’s Heart Hospital. 
 
 

Page 60



19 

First Point of Contact Community 
 
All First Point of Contact Community staff have been homeworking for over a month.  
The transition is now working the same as it would have in the office, but with reduced 
service. Given the logistical changes, the focus is people currently in crisis, people 
who could get into crisis, safeguarding and carer support as well as providing 
information and advice for people who can stay safe in their home setting, such as 
information on picking up prescriptions, shopping etc. 
 
Since 30th March 2020, when homeworking was mobilised, the team has dealt with 
1,411 inbound calls, with a 99% answer rate. They have made 597 referrals for 
support, with 92% dealt within the team and 8% of calls being progressed to Social 
Services for a full assessment. Strong links are also maintained with the Council’s 
Adviceline with regard to shielding and access to food parcels. 
 
Independent Living Services 
 
Independent Living Services (ILS) are providing a critical service to vulnerable older 
people during the current crisis. This has required a change in direction to support 
citizens of Cardiff, both logistically through prioritising critical services, but still 
maintaining the core objective of supporting people to live independently at home. 
Each part of ILS has played a crucial role in this by adapting their service to meet the 
current needs of citizens. 
 
All of the ILS Visiting team is working from home. The team is continuing to complete 
financial assessments for Domiciliary and Residential care, which is now done over 
the phone as much as they are able. They are also undertaking welfare calls to clients 
to ensure that they are managing and to provide information, advice and assistance, 
as well as going out to pick up shopping or prescriptions for citizens over 65 and 
vulnerable people who have no other support. The team has undertaken 210 visits to 
recently discharged patients providing personal support and 26 collections of 
emergency prescriptions. Several members of the team are also supporting vulnerable 
people by assisting Council food distribution schemes and some staff have been 
deployed to the Community Resource Team/ Telecare, Meals on Wheels and the 
hospital. 
 
Joint Equipment Store 
 
In consultation with its partner organisations, the Joint Equipment Store has 
implemented an activity reduction plan to ensure their most urgent services are 
protected. This includes: 
 

 The delivery of continence products across Cardiff and the Vale for existing 
customers, hospital wards and urgent new patients required for discharge or 
palliative care. 

 Same/ next day delivery service to support hospital discharge, avoid admissions 
and carer breakdown. 

 Standard equipment deliveries are only being completed if they are required to 
directly support discharge or stop an imminent admission. 
 

 

Page 61



20 

Social distancing measures and protective equipment are used as per Welsh 
Government guidelines. In some instances, the Joint Equipment Store is unable to 
overcome some physical distancing problems, such as when drivers have to travel 
together in a vehicle and set up equipment that requires two people. However, the 
work of the Joint Equipment Store is clearly set out in the Welsh Government guidance 
“where reasonable measures are not possible”.  To mitigate this, protective equipment 
is worn at all times. 
 
Since 30th March 2020, the Joint Equipment Store has completed 3,800 deliveries of 
continence products. 1,173 standard deliveries have been undertaken within five 
working days, as well as 50 deliveries being made on the same/ next working day. 
This includes eight enabling discharge; 28 to facilitate discharge of patients who wish 
to pass away at home with loved ones; and 14 to avoid hospital admission. The same/ 
next day service has delivered more equipment in one month than it had in four months 
during 2019/20. Ten additional drivers from across the Council have been trained and 
are on standby should the need arise for them to be deployed. 
 
Occupational Therapy 
 
The Occupational Therapy (OT) team have been set up to work agilely, but are 
maintaining a skeleton staff within Willcox House of two Contact Officers and a duty 
Occupational Therapist providing appropriate triage. This set-up is managed on a rota 
basis. Work has been prioritised to assess and provide services for urgent referrals to 
support critical services. This includes urgent manual handling assessments, 
breakdown of care, facilitating discharge from hospital, end-of-life arrangements and 
high-end safeguarding. This will ensure resources are focussed where they are 
needed, so other services such as the Joint Equipment Store are not unnecessarily 
pressurised. 
 
A considerable amount of support is being given to care agencies in order to prevent 
hospital admissions and care breakdown, some of which the team is able to complete 
over the telephone and some we have to attend at the person’s home. A dedicated 
Occupational Therapist is reviewing the suitability of clients to be discharged from 
nursing/ residential homes to their own home. Potential residents will be allocated to 
an Occupational Therapist who will visit and consider solutions to get the resident back 
to their own home. This is as an urgent piece of work to improve patient flow in hospital 
and re-unite families. 
 
Since the beginning of lockdown, the OT team has received 151 referrals, which is a 
50% reduction on the usual number of referrals. Around one-third of these were for 
their critical service and resulted in the prevention of a hospital admission or 
breakdown in care, supported hospital discharge or avoided the need for more care. 
There were also 36 referrals from care agencies to support manual handling issues. 
Although demand is currently lower than normal, the OT team anticipate that demand 
will grow as people will have become de-conditioned due to a lack of mobility, thereby 
impacting on their longer term welfare. 
 
Disabled Facilities 
 
The Disabled Facilities Grants team is currently prioritising repairs to defective 
adaptations, ensuring people remain at home and care remains in place, as well as  

Page 62



21 

emergency adaptations, in order to support hospital discharge; reduce breakdown of 
care and prevent admissions. To complete essential works, full procedures have been 
created requiring client consent to do works, strict social distancing measures, full 
cleaning on entry & exit of properties and use of appropriate PPE. Since lockdown 
began, the team have delivered 20 urgent adaptations, with one to allow hospital 
discharge and 19 to avoid hospital admission due to breakdown of care. 
 
Day Opportunities 
 
The Day Opportunities team has completely stopped their regular work. Due to current 
measures, they are unable to take clients out into the community. Therefore, Day 
Opportunities staff have been deployed to other services including Telecare, First 
Point of Contact and the Community Resource Team. Other Day Opportunities staff 
who are working from home are contacting people they have worked with and 
providing a welfare check, where concerns are dealt with appropriately through our 
assessment process and support provided where required. To date, 1,000 shielding 
calls have been made, as well as 325 Welfare calls to those who are socially isolated. 
 
Since a lot of Cardiff’s community groups have had to temporarily close their doors, 
the Community Co-ordinator has been keeping in touch with attendees for a chat to 
see how they are doing; signposting them to relevant services, such as shopping, and 
helping keep people active providing links to online exercises for older people. We are 
also maintaining a directory of all services aimed at older people across Cardiff, 
available to anyone. The database includes local shopping and prescription services 
to assist people who do not have the support to collect these for themselves. 
 
Telecare 
 
In March 2020, Telecare mobile wardens attended 673 call outs, of which 334 related 
to falls. This resulted in £43,950 cost avoidance for the Welsh Ambulance Service. 
The service has continued to operate throughout the Covid-19 crisis with plentiful 
provision of appropriate, high-quality PPE for staff. Several volunteers have been 
welcomed and trained, and two of these volunteers are now fully trained mobile 
wardens. Cardiff Telecare is also the first in Wales to offer a self-service (plug and 
play) installation option to its customers who are able to install their own Lifeline unit, 
improving accessibility and choice when accessing the service. 

 
Volunteering 
 
During the Covid-19 crisis and under the umbrella ‘Together for Cardiff’, volunteering 
has taken a shift in emphasis to enable over 1,000 people to register as volunteer food 
parcel delivery drivers. They have helped ensure that those who are unable to access 
food supplies are given a vital food parcel. To date over 3,500 parcels have been 
delivered.  
 
The Volunteer Cardiff website has become a vital source of information and support 
as it has brought all mutual aid groups and other local organisations such as Cardiff 
Third Sector Council together in one place to help promote their services at this time. 
This interest is shown by the fact that the website has received over 40,000 views in 
one month. 
 

Page 63



22 

To complement and further support the rapid increase of volunteering across the city, 
the Council has worked with partners to develop a network of trusted community 
groups or Anchor Organisations. This network will enable communication, key 
messages, and resources such as e-learning to be disseminated to newly-established 
volunteer groups. This network will also act as a framework for key partner strategies 
such as the food response coordinated by Food Cardiff. Volunteer groups will be able 
to feedback intelligence and emerging issues. 
 
Thus far, six organisations including Action in Caerau & Ely (ACE), South Riverside 
Community Development Centre (SRCDC), Grangetown Community Action, 
Boomerang, Flourish (Cardiff Community Housing Association) and Community 
Wellbeing (United Welsh Housing Association) have trialled the Anchor Organisation 
approach in over 11 wards across Cardiff and are meeting weekly to discuss good 
practice and progress. The Anchor Organisation network will continue to expand and 
aim to use operational data and volunteer intelligence to prioritise the areas most in 
need. 
 
Producing PPE 
 
Llanover Hall (Learning for Life) staff have stepped up to use Llanover Hall Arts Centre 
as a hub for making scrubs for the NHS. Community Education Officers will be co-
ordinating the delivery and collection of materials for tunics which volunteers will be 
sewing up to make tunics for the NHS. After a call-out for volunteers with more than 
100 positive responses from tutors, learners and other members of the public, a core 
team of 17 volunteers has been gathered who have overlocking machines to make the 
garments. The Llanover Hall Charitable Trust is donating a new overlocking machine 
to the centre so two machines will be in operation in the centre. The aim is to produce 
around 600 tunics each week. The first batch of material will be sorted into packs ready 
for production. All social distancing requirements are being adhered to. Thanks to 
Learning for Life sewing tutors, who are helping out with technical details and 
instructions as well as volunteering themselves to produce tunics. The materials for 
this initiative are being provided by a Welsh Government-funded company and we are 
working in association with a Cardiff school teacher who put out the call initially for 
helpers. 
 

Parks 
 
Cardiff Council, along with other Core Cities, has taken the decision to keep its parks 
and green spaces open for use and, during the lockdown period, the importance of 
these spaces has become increasingly clear, with the mental and physical well-being 
benefits being immeasurable. In particular, these spaces provide a place of sanctuary 
for residents living in flats and other properties who are without outdoor space. It has, 
however, been necessary on safety grounds to implement closures of outdoor sport 
and recreational facilities, including our play areas, multi-use games areas, tennis 
courts and outdoor fitness equipment, and daily inspections are undertaken to ensure 
that security measures are in place. 
 
Our Park Ranger service, and indeed our wider Parks team, have been working with 
others to ensure that our parks are safe to use. They have been working seven days 
per week undertaking independent and joint patrols with South Wales Police and 
targeting areas of high use. 
 

Page 64



23 

The Cabinet are very aware from the feedback that has been received from a variety 
of sources that the decision to keep parks open is one that has been very much 
welcomed and are also pleased to report that our park users have responded 
positively, with the majority conforming to social distancing requirements. The Parks 
team has also listened to concerns from park users and have responded accordingly. 
This was the case at Roath Park where, last month, a one-way system was introduced 
around the lake area which is designed to improve social distancing and reduce the 
risk of spreading Covid-19. 
 
The Parks team is also making a wider contribution to the collective Council effort, as 
well as supporting vulnerable people across the city. A number of Parks staff have 
been being redeployed into roles in Bereavement & Registration Services, Housing 
and Social Care. 
 
Recovery plans are now starting to be implemented and it will be a very different 
summer to normal with reduced staff capacity, new operational arrangements as a 
consequence of the pandemic and increased demands and work volumes. The look 
and feel of the city’s parks and green spaces will take time to return to what can be 
considered as normal as the Council continues to contribute to the wider community 
need. 
 

Waste Management & Recycling 
 
Due to the impact of the Covid-19 crisis, the Council’s regular collection of waste and 
recycling materials in separate streams had to be changed to help manage the impact 
of Covid-19 and ensure the wellbeing of both residents and the workforce. 
 
To simplify and ensure waste operations can continue with a reduced workforce, it 
was not possible to sort recyclable waste. As such, it has gone to the energy from 
waste plant along with the residual waste. This is the safest way to dispose of waste 
that may be carrying Covid-19. 
 
From the start of June 2020, the waste collection service will return to collect separate 
waste streams, with the exception of garden waste. The introduction of social 
distancing controls and measures such as screens will support re-opening the 
Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) following the re-introduction of collections of 
separate waste/ recycling streams. 
 
Bulky waste collections and green garden waste collections have been stopped until 
the emergency is over. Stopping these services has helped the Council to deploy the 
workforce to keeping our streets clean; however, one-off garden waste collections 
have been taking place across the city on Saturdays throughout May. The additional 
collections were arranged to help residents dispose of some of their grass cuttings 
and garden waste, which have built up since the service was halted because of the 
Covid-19 crisis. 
 
Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) were closed at the end of March due 
to social distancing and essential travel restrictions. However, following the Welsh 
Government’s announcement on Friday 8th May, the Council is developing plans to re-
open HWRCs from early June, including the introduction of a booking system to 
support demand and support social distancing controls. 
 

Page 65



24 

Bereavement & Registration Services 
 
The Covid-19 crisis has seen increased demand for Bereavement and Registration 
Services as the services have dealt with the increased number of deaths alongside 
legislative change. 
 
Following legislative changes to deal with the excess death rate, the Register Office 
has been able to take telephone registrations for deaths, but all birth registrations and 
marriage ceremonies and notices have been suspended. Numerous staff from across 
the Council have been redeployed into the service to assist in a variety of roles. For 
example, many employees from St David’s Hall and City Hall are supporting 
colleagues at Thornhill Crematorium. All of the redeployed staff deserve recognition 
for the positive contribution they are making both behind the scenes and on the front 
line. 
 
Bereavement Services increased their cremation service capacity to 20 per day with 
45-minute funeral services times being offered six days a week. On 6th May the 
capacity was further increased to cope with demand to 30 per day by reducing service 
times to 30 minutes and cremating over the 24-hour period. These measures have 
ensured that the bereaved have not had to wait unduly long for a funeral service for 
their loved one. Burial services continue to meet any demands on the service. From 
26th May, the 45-minute funeral service times for cremation services will be reinstated 
offering up to 20 cremation services per day. 
 
Complying with, and enforcing, Government guidelines has necessitated the closure 
and reopening of cemetery sites, as well as restricting the numbers allowed to attend 
funerals. 
 

Transport and Public Spaces 
 

The unprecedented measures introduced to limit the spread of Covid-19 have had 
profound impacts on our city. Most striking perhaps is the significant decrease in traffic 
on Cardiff’s streets. In recent weeks, the number of people walking and cycling around 
their neighbourhoods for essential travel and daily exercise has also been very 
noticeable. It has become clear that social distancing will need to continue for some 
time. There is a pressing need to ensure that levels of motorised traffic do not grow 
unmanageably when travel increases again, as has happened in other cities following 
a period of lockdown.  
 
The need to maintain social distancing while undertaking essential journeys also 
means that there is an urgent need for action to give people safe space to walk and 
cycle and to address traffic speeds. Addressing these needs is the focus of the 
Transport Recovery Plan now being rapidly developed by the Council: 
 

1. Measures to tackle speeding vehicles through a communications campaign and 
the introduction of 20mph limits in the vicinity of district centres; 

2. Installing temporary segregated cycle routes along the alignment of planned 
strategic cycle ways; 

3. Temporary measures to facilitate active travel and social distancing in district 
and local centres, including the city centre; 
 

Page 66



25 

4. Temporary road closures and modal filters in residential areas to manage traffic 
and improve safety for pedestrians and cyclists; 

5. Measures outside schools to facilitate active travel and social distancing when 
schools return, and; 

6. Temporary bus gates and other measures to enhance bus movements. 
 
The Welsh Government is making funding available for sustainable transport 
measures in response to Covid-19. The Council will be submitting initial funding 
proposals for the measures outlined above on 21st May 2020. Further details of 
measures will be published along with a report due to be considered by the Cabinet in 
the near future. 
 
Public Spaces 
 
As part of the Transport Recovery Plan, the Council is bringing forward a number of 
pilot schemes designed to keep the public safe and able to socially distance in public 
spaces. The first neighbourhood shopping area which will be adapted for safety 
reasons is Wellfield Road in Plasnewydd. Plans have been drawn up to remove car 
parking on either side of the road to ensure that the pavement can be safely extended 
into the highway for the public to use. 
 
As part of the Council’s response to the Covid-19 crisis, other ideas being put forward 
include creating temporary cycleways, removing street furniture, carrying out a speed 
awareness campaign and re-designing public space around neighbourhood shopping 
centres. 
 
Road traffic schemes are also being looked at in the city including accelerating some 
previously agreed Clean Air proposals in the city centre on Castle Street. The traffic 
lane next to the Castle will be removed so that the walkway can be extended into the 
road for both pedestrians and cyclists to use. Transport improvement schemes in 
Central Square and Wood Street including the development of a new cycleway will 
also be brought forward. 
 
Further schemes are also being devised to ensure that people can safely use 
sustainable transport to get around the city during the recovery period and further 
details will be given on these schemes in the weeks ahead. 
 
Clean Air Plan 
 
The lockdown in response to Covid-19 has led to reduced road traffic and significant 
improvement in air quality in Cardiff. Measured daily NO2 levels have followed a 
downward trend during this period. The Council’s city centre schemes remain our 
priority as they have been shown to deliver the greatest overall air quality benefit to 
the city, and it is more important than ever that these public health improvements are 
progressed.  
 
Immediately prior to the lockdown on 23rd March 2020, in conjunction with the Welsh 
Government, the Council submitted a state aid notification to the European 
Commission in relation to our proposed £2.25m bus retrofit scheme. The Council is 
still awaiting a decision from the commission on this scheme and will need to assess 
 

Page 67



26 

the impact of Covid-19 on the bus industry and how the retrofit scheme can progress 
upon recovery. 
 
Some additional assessments are also being undertaken to look at how we can further 
use the £1.8m taxi grant from the Welsh Government in order to promote the uptake 
of cleaner taxis operating in our city. Again, the impact to the taxi trade from Covid-19 
has been substantial and the Council will need to be mindful of how it can support the 
trade as the city emerges from this crisis. 
 

Planning 
 
With effect from 27th March 2020, temporary changes were made to the delivery of 
some of the functions of the Development Management Service in response to the 
evolving situation. These changes effectively froze the registration/validation and 
consultation upon new applications and also stopped the issuing of decisions 
(although Officers progressed work in assessing proposals already submitted).  
 
Planning Committee meetings have also been cancelled until further notice. However, 
these temporary arrangements were reviewed at the end of April 2020 and functions 
will be gradually brought back into operation through a three-phased approach with 
consultations and the issuing of decisions re-commencing on all types of applications 
from 18th May 2020. These changes have been in line with other Welsh and Core City 
Local Authorities. 
 
The approach recognises the important role which the Planning Service can play in 
helping the city recover from the current challenges by, for example, bringing forward 
new affordable housing, schools and business premises. This is aligned with other 
Local Planning Authorities who are now also introducing enhanced arrangements after 
a period where there were limitations on the ability to provide a ‘business as usual’ 
service. The phased approach also reflects the need to maintain momentum on 
schemes which already have approvals in place and gradually introduces wider 
consultation and decision-making. The final phase will respond to recent Welsh 
Government Regulations with regard to the operation of Planning Committees in the 
current context with virtual arrangements being considered. To accord with the 
constitution of the Council, no applications will be determined through delegations if 
the decision should be taken by Committee. 
 
With regard to planning policy, officers are currently continuing to undertake important 
background work as part of the ongoing Plan Review process but at this juncture no 
formal Council resolution has been passed to proceed with a replacement Local 
Development Plan. Stakeholders will be kept informed of any future plan-making 
arrangements in due course. 
 
These arrangements will be kept under review and further updates will be provided 
should changes to the three-phase approach be considered necessary.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



27 

Supporting Residents during the Covid-19 Crisis 
 
The Diff Diaries 
 
On 24th April 2020, the Diff Diaries project was launched to encourage children and  
young people in Cardiff to share their experiences of the Covid-19 pandemic.  This 
partnership initiative, driven by Cardiff’s Child Friendly City and Cardiff Commitment 
teams, is providing children and young people with the opportunity to document their 
activity, thoughts and feelings during the global crisis by submitting video recordings, 
photo collages or written diary entries. The project is open to 7-16 year olds. Entries 
must be uploaded via the Hwb platform. The project will come to an end one month 
after all schools re-open for statutory education. 
 
Adult Learning Online 
 
In response to the Covid-19 crisis, Adult Learning are working to adapt to social 
distancing measures to continue to provide our service to the community.  The team 
is currently working on a restricted curriculum, focussing on both essential and digital 
literacy alongside our employability courses. They have been working to trail online 
delivery with both existing and new students of all levels. Using either Zoom meeting 
software or Skype video calling, they have managed to re-engage groups of students 
from Ty Canna, Cardiff People First and Women’s Connect Cardiff in courses such as 
Breathing Space, Get to Know your Smartphone and Tablet, and the BT Skills for 
Tomorrow programme.  
 
Additionally, Adult Learning continue to offer digital support services online and via 
telephone. Digital Surgery, which addresses digital device issues, gives advice on 
scams, provides training and supports people using new applications or software 
among other thing, has had a steady take-up across Cardiff over the past few weeks. 
Working with Digital Communities Wales the team is identifying and supporting 
vulnerable and isolated individuals in the community, providing guidance for digital 
literacy training and finding solutions for lack of digital equipment or internet 
connection in the household.  
 
Moving forward the team plan to initiate an ‘all-digital’ approach to online delivery. 
Using Google Classroom they are confident that they can provide a fantastic service. 
To roll out this approach, they are moving existing courses and programmes that are 
currently being run onto Google Classroom and monitoring student experience. Once 
this has been successful, they will then look to expand to other courses across all 
curriculums to ensure that they can meet expectation of learners. 
 
Digital inclusion, whilst introducing new delivery, is a barrier that Adult Learning are 
keen to overcome, therefore they are now working towards providing a laptop/ tablet 
loan scheme to learners who wish to engage with the online delivery method. Students 
will need to be enrolled with the library in order to access the loan scheme, and initially 
sign a user agreement and privacy acknowledgement to ensure that they are aware 
of current GDPR/Prevent Duty laws. Once this has been completed, the student will 
be able to loan a device from the Hub service/Adult Learning service and join their 
virtual classroom environment. Each student will fill out a questionnaire to assess 
personal device needs and competency to ensure that measures are put in place to 
 

Page 69



28 

support the individual digitally aside from Google Classroom training and to ensure 
that access to data is supplied if WiFi is not available.  
 
All equipment will be pre-loaded with essential applications and shortcuts, so students 
will be able to re-direct to classrooms easily. If a student encounters issues with their 
device or would like training, the Digital Support team/Digital Surgery service will  
 
provide distanced support to the user via video chat or telephone call. 
 
Adult Learning Disability Inclusion in Community Education (DICE) tutors are also 
delivering new courses to socially-isolated adults with mental health issues using the 
Zoom app. The courses are learner-led which encourages adults to participate in a 
variety of topics to improve mental well-being and physical health. Zoom sessions 
have included mindfulness, healthy cooking, music, art, creative writing and pottery. 
14 learners who have enrolled on the course have seen a significant improvement in 
their well-being and have commented that these sessions are vital to combat feelings 
of loneliness and depression. For many these courses are the only opportunity they 
have all week to collaborate with others in an enjoyable and supportive setting. 
 
Learning for Life in Lockdown 
 
During lockdown, the Learning for Life team has been in regular contact with tutors to 
ensure their health and well-being and try to support them as well as generating ideas 
going forward on how best to carry on to keep the service visible. Gardening sessions 
have continued using Skype, resulting in one learner providing plants outside her 
home for passers-by to take. Free YouTube tutorials have been created, including one 
for a children’s anime course planned for September. A WhatsApp group has also 
been set up for a youth class – children have recorded audio files reading their stories 
and poems as well as pictures and videos of characters they have created. 
 
Community Safety 
 
During this time, the Council has played a key role in keeping communities safe and 
protecting the most vulnerable citizens. The Community Safety team has enhanced 
their partnership working with Police, Health and other key partners; they have been 
extra vigilant in helping some of the most “at risk” groups such as the homeless and 
those in danger of domestic violence and abuse; and they have continued to 
strengthen relationships across safeguarding arrangements to protect and support 
children and adults at risk. 
 
Cardiff Dogs Home 
 

Safe systems to assess dogs, match them with a foster family and transport them to 
the family have enabled Cardiff Dogs Home to continue placing dogs in foster care 
during lockdown. There are currently nine dogs in the kennels. The fostering scheme 
has ensured that the number of staff required to work at the facility is kept to a 
minimum.  Safe systems have been put in place to ensure the service has continued 
to discharge the Council’s statutory responsibilities regarding stray dogs. 65 stray dogs 
have come into the centre since lockdown – 48 have been returned safely to their 
owners.  Going forward the service has drawn up a recovery plan and remains mindful  
 

Page 70



29 

of enforcing social distancing as well as any other legislative changes which will prove 
challenging within these frontline services. 
 

Culture, Venues, Tourism & Events 
 
Culture and Leisure Venues 
 
As a result of government advice, the Council took the difficult decision to close all of 
its venues and attractions due to the Covid-19 crisis. This included Cardiff Castle, the 
Museum of Cardiff, the Norwegian Church, City Hall, Mansion House, St David’s Hall 
and the New Theatre. The capital’s extensive event programme has also been 
impacted with events either being postponed until later in the year or, as in the case 
of the Guinness Pro14 Finals and Nitro World Games, being cancelled altogether. 
 
The Events team has been involved in supporting the many logistical challenges faced 
across the city, including the installation of the one-way pedestrian system around 
Roath Park. Other staff have assisted in the creation of the temporary mortuary facility 
in Cardiff Bay and supported the development and operation of the Dragon’s Heart 
hospital at the Principality Stadium. 
 
Where officers are working from home, considerable effort is being made to continue 
to engage with patrons, clients and partners to ensure that services are in the best 
position possible to open their doors once it is considered safe to do so. 
 
The Museum of Cardiff is posting a virtual tour of their collection – one object from the 
collection every day – on their Twitter and Facebook social media channels. Every 
Wednesday they ask virtual visitors to the museum to send their memories, ideas or 
pictures. The team has also launched a new section on their website ‘My Museum’ 
with downloadable resources for families, parents and carers and those who are 
looking after older people – whether they are together or having to socially distance. 
The website, created by the museum’s Projects Officer and supported by teachers 
from Fitzalan High and Ninian Park Primary Schools, has activity sheets for early years 
and primary school aged children that can be downloaded. United Welsh Housing 
Association also printed them off to send to families in their houses. In addition, an 
advice sheet has been developed for people who want to keep in touch with older 
relatives or for staff to use as activities in care homes. This provides a guide on 
interviewing people about their memories and lives and how to record them as ‘oral 
histories’ that can be reviewed when life returns to normal. 
 
As a discretionary function that is reliant on income and social interaction, the road 
ahead certainly looks challenging, not only for the Council, but for their many cultural 
partners; however, with the commitment, professionalism, determination, creativity 
and innovation that has been witnessed over recent weeks, the Council will seek to 
embrace the opportunities presented by the current period of social distancing and 
isolation and, through continued partnership, will help forge a bright and sustainable 
future for the arts, cultural and creative sectors in Cardiff. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



30 

Sport & Leisure 
 
All facilities, such as GLL-managed leisure centres, Channel View Leisure Centre, 
Canton Community Centre, Cardiff International White Water, and Cardiff Riding 
School, have been closed with a staffing rota in place to carry out essential building 
and security checks. This aspect of Council services is primarily income-reliant and 
officers and partners are working closely together to put in place plans that can support 
and ensure the continuity of services once lockdown restrictions are eased. 
 
In terms of alternative provision during this challenging period, the Council’s leisure 
partner GLL is offering online health and fitness classes to its members. The GP 
referral team, despite not being able to carry out normal programmes at facility gyms, 
are also providing essential online classes for the patients referred to the team with 
high levels of obesity, risk of coronary heart disease and type 2 diabetes. Feedback 
received from clients has been excellent. 
 
Cardiff Riding School continues to maintain a skeleton workforce on a shift rota to 
ensure the horses continue to be cared for, fed, cleaned and exercised in readiness 
for the start-up of lessons and classes post-lockdown. 
 
The Children’s Play team has also been operating the food larder initiative from Splott 
Play Centre in partnership with the National Lottery and local superstores. Staff have 
been delivering thousands of shopping bags of food and essential items to the families 
known to be most at risk through poverty or requiring additional support. 

Page 72



 
 

CARDIFF COUNCIL 
REGISTER OF DECISIONS TAKEN BY OFFICERS ON 

SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM 
2019/2020 No 30 

 
Decision 
No. 

Decision Maker Decision Reasons Consultation 
Undertaken 

Dates Responsibility 
for  

Implementation 
after date 

shown 
 

Decision 
Made 

Publication Deadline for 
call-in 
 

SMT/19-
20/59 
 

Chris Lee – 
Corporate 
Director  
Resources  

COVID-19 Civil 
Contingency 
Commission to Wild 
Water Cold Storage for 
Temporary Morgue 
Storage Services 
 

The appendices to the 
report are not for 

publication as they 
contains exempt 
information of the 

description in 
paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 
of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 

1972 
 

Agreed: that a direct 
award be approved to 
the value of £1.48m to 
Wild Water Cold Storage 
Ltd for temporary 
morgue storage at 
facilities in South East 
Wales and associated 
services for a 6-month 
term. 

 

Due to the COVID-19 
Pandemic, this 
decision supports the 
need for temporary 
surge morgue 
capacity and 
addresses the 
resulting contractual 
arrangements. 
The following local 
authorities (Cardiff, 
Swansea, Rhondda 
Cynon Taff, Neath 
Port Talbot, Vale of 
Glamorgan, Bridgend 
and Merthyr) have 
sought funding from 
Welsh Government 
working in 
collaboration with 
Cardiff UHB and the 
Coroners Officer.  
 
Cardiff Council, 
acting as lead on 
procurement requires 
a direct award to be 
made to Wild Water 
Cold Storage Ltd for 
a 6-month period to 
provide temporary 

The Cabinet 
Member of 
Finance, 
Performance & 
Modernisation 
has been 
consulted 

3.04.2020 The Monitoring Officer 
and Chair of Policy 
Review & Performance 
Scrutiny Committee have 
agreed that this decision 
should be taken on an 
urgent basis and is 
therefore not subject to 
call-in. 
 

Chris Lee – 
Corporate 
Director  
Resources 

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 9



 
 

morgue facilities at 
two locations namely 
Cardiff and Merthyr 
and provide 
associated services 
to the value of 
c£1.48m. 
 
The direct award is 
sought under 
Cabinet Office 
Procurement Policy 
Notice PPN 01/20 
seeking relief via 
regulation 32(3)(c) 
under the Public 
Procurement 
Regulations (2015) 
where :- 
 

• Direct award 
due to 
extreme 
urgency 

• Direct award 
due to 
absence of 
competition  

 
SMT/19-
20/60 
 

Sarah McGIll – 
Corporate 
Director People 
& Communities 

Childcare - 
Coronavirus Childcare 
Assistance Scheme (C-
CAS) 2020. 
 
Agreed: that the Welsh 
Government Coronavirus 
Childcare Assistance 
Scheme (C-CAS) C-CAS 
scheme be implemented 
and for the Authority to 
appoint, from time to 
time during the operation 
of the C-CAS scheme, 

To ensure that 
emergency 
arrangements can be 
put in place to 
facilitate this 
requirement and 
remove childcare 
barriers for critical 
key workers to 
enable them to carry 
out their business-
critical roles. 

The Cabinet 
Member 
Finance, 
Performance & 
Modernisation 
and the Cabinet 
Member for 
Children and 
Families have 
been consulted 

29.04.2020 The Chief Executive and 
Chair of Children and 
Young People Scrutiny 
Committee have agreed 
that this decision should 
be taken on an urgent 
basis and is therefore not 
subject to call-in. 
 

Sarah McGIll – 
Corporate 
Director People 
& Communities 

P
age 74



 
 

childcare providers, 
registered with Care 
Inspectorate Wales to 
provide childcare for  
Critical Keyworker and 
vulnerable children. The 
estimate value of the 
scheme is circa £3m. 

   Prepared by Cabinet Support Office:                           7 May 2020 
Submitted to Chief Executive for signature:                  7 May 2020 

 
 
Approved for Publication:  Paul Orders  Date: 7/05/2020 
    Chief Executive 

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 1 

   
CARDIFF COUNCIL      
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
 
 
COUNCIL:                      21 May 2020  
 

  
REPORT OF DIRECTOR GOVERNANCE & LEGAL SERVICES 

 
 
APPOINTMENT OF LOCAL AUTHORITY GOVERNORS TO SCHOOL GOVERNING 
BODIES  
  
Reason for this Report  
 
1. To appoint Local Authority School Governors to fill vacancies. 
 
Background 
 
2. Section 19 of the Education Act 2002 makes provision for the governing bodies of 

maintained schools to include Local Authority appointed governors, with further detail 
contained in the Government of Maintained Schools (Wales) Regulations 2005. When 
Local Authority school governor vacancies arise, either by appointees reaching the 
end of their term of office or resigning, it is the statutory duty of the Council to fill the 
vacancies as soon as possible. 

 
3. The Local Authority Governor Panel was constituted at the Annual Council in May 

2015 to advise the Council on appointments and removal of governors to those places 
allocated to the Local Authority. . 

 
Issues  
 
4. The Local Authority Governor Panel met on 16 March 2020 to consider new 

applications to fill current and future vacancies due to arise by 30 June 2020.  The 
recommendations of the panel, in respect of new appointments and re-appointments, 
are contained in Appendix 1 to this report. 
  

Reasons for Recommendations   
 
5. To ensure that the Council fulfils its statutory functions in respect of the appointment of 

Local Authority governors for maintained schools. 
 
Legal Implications  
      
6. As noted in paragraph 2 of the report, the Council is required, pursuant to the 

Education Act 2002, section 19 and regulations made there under, to appoint local 
authority governors to the governing bodies of maintained schools, in accordance with 
those statutory provisions. Appointments are for a fixed term of 4 years from the date 
of the appointment and governors may be re-appointed for a further 4 year term. 

 

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



 
 

 2 

  
7. Appointments to outside bodies are a local choice function, which is reserved under 

the Council’s Constitution to full Council. Accordingly, the appointment of Local 
Authority governors to governing bodies requires the approval of full Council.  
 

8. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Welsh Government has issued the Local 
Authorities (Coronavirus)(Meetings)(Wales) Regulations 2020, which came into force 
on 22nd April 2020.  These regulations temporarily relax the rules relating to local 
authority meetings in order to minimise risks to public health. For appointments made 
by Council, the Regulations provide that the terms of office of all appointees who were 
in office when the Regulations came into force (on 22nd April 2020) shall automatically 
be extended until a new appointment is made, which may be at any time before 1st 
May 2021.  
 

9. The Regulations therefore remove the requirement for appointments to be made for 
local authority governors whose terms of office are due to expire on or after 22nd April 
2020, until 1st May 2021.  This means that re-appointments (or new appointments) 
may be deferred until 1st May 2021 if current governors are content to remain in office. 
However, the Council may decide to re-appoint governors for a further 4 year term.  
 

10. Members will note that this report recommends the appointments and re-appointments 
of local authority governors, as set out in Appendix 1, for a further 4 year term. 
 

 
Financial Implications 
 
11. There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 
Recommendation  
 
12. That, in accordance with the recommendations of the Local Authority Governor Panel, 

the Council approves the new appointments and re-appointments of Local Authority 
governors to the school governing bodies as set out in Appendix 1, each for a term of 
4 years from the date of the appointment.  

 
 
Davina Fiore 
Director Governance & Legal Services 
14 May 2020 
 
 
The following Appendix is attached: 
 
Appendix 1  List of Local Authority school governor vacancies and recommendations 

for appointment by the Local Authority Governor Panel for the period 1 
April 2020 to 30 June 2020. 

 
 
 
The following Background Documents have been taken into account: N/A 
 

Page 78



 
 

 3 

LA Governor Vacancies - Recommendations from LA Governor Panel     Appendix 1 
1 April 2020 to 30 June 2020 

 
i. All appointments in the list are recommended by the LA Governor Panel and will have satisfied the required application process.   
 
ii. All terms of office unless otherwise stated are for 4 years.   
 

 
Existing LA Governor Vacancies 

 
 
School Ward  Start of Vacancy 

 
Applications received 

Birchgrove Primary School  Heath 10/12/2019 Christine Salter      
Bryn Celyn Primary School Pentwyn  02/07/2019  
Cantonian High School 
 x 2 vacancies Fairwater 

04/09/2019  
03/01/2020 

Rosie Mellors 

Christ the King RC Primary School  Llanishen 06/09/2019  
Creigiau Primary School  
x 2 vacancies Creigiau & St Fagans 

16/09/2018   
14/01/2020 

 

Gabalfa Primary School  Llandaff North  27/03/2019  
Grangetown Nursery School Grangetown 27/03/2019  
Greenhill School  Rhiwbina 01/02/2020 Mark Thomas     
Howardian Primary School Penylan 03/02/2020  
Hywel Dda Primary School Ely 02/12/2018  
Llysfaen Primary School Lisvane 25/09/2019 Nick Barber 
Marlborough Primary School  Penylan 05/02/2020 Onur Tosun  
Meadowlane Primary School  
x 2 vacancies  Trowbridge 

20/07/2018  
20/07/2019  

 

Ninian Park Primary School Grangetown 06/11/2019 Marc Goudeau 
Pentrebane Primary School  Fairwater  07/12/2019 Helen Gorman         

Pontprennau Primary School  Pontprennau & Old St 
Mellons 10/09/2019 

 

St Cuthbert's R.C Primary School Butetown 08/03/2018  

P
age 79



 
 

 4 

St Mary's Catholic Primary School  Riverside  08/11/2018 Cllr Caro Wilde        
Thornhill Primary School   
x 2 vacancies  Llanishen  

14/10/2019  
10/06/2019 Nick Middleton        

Ton-Yr-Ywen Primary School Heath  21/01/2020 Rebecca  Chamberlain                                                                                   
Whitchurch Primary School Whitchurch & Tongwynlais 27/11/2019  Cllr Mia Rees        
Willowbrook Primary School  
x 2 vacancies Trowbridge 

20/02/2018  
26/11/2019 

 

Windsor Clive Primary School  
x 2 vacancies 

 
Ely 

02/12/2018 
29/01/2020 

Sian Cately         

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr Fairwater 06/11/2019 Mair Parry-Jones   
Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-Y-Gof Fairwater  29/01/2020  
Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd  
x 2 vacancies Whitchurch & Tongwynlais 

27/11/2017  
08/10/2019 

Natasha Hammond-
Browning              

Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch Canton  31/09/2019  
Ysgol Pencae  Llandaff  29/01/2020  
Ysgol Y Berllan Deg Pentwyn 24/07/2019  

 
 

 
Future LA Governor Vacancies 

 

School Ward Start of Vacancy 

 
Re-appointment  
Requested 

New 
Application 
Received  

     
Birchgrove Primary School Heath   22/06/2020  Cllr Graham Hinchey  
Cardiff High School  Cyncoed 27/05/2020 Miriam Norton  
Creigiau Primary School  Creigiau & St Fagans 27/05/2020                               
Eastern High Trowbridge 27/05/2020 Paul Gorin  
Gabalfa Primary School Llandaff North 27/05/2020 Richard  Norton  
Gladstone Primary School Cathays 22/06/2020 Cllr Chris Weaver  
Grangetown Nursery School Grangetown 18/05/2020 Cllr Lynda Thorne  
Pen-Y-Bryn Primary School  Llanrumney 27/05/2020 Paul Stock  

P
age 80



 
 

 5 

St Francis RC Primary School Ely 27/05/2020 Irene Humphries  
The Hollies  Pentwyn  28/03/2020   
Ton-Yr-Ywen Primary School  Heath  22/06/2020 Cllr Graham Hinchey  
Willows High School  Splott 22/06/2020                                
Windsor Clive Primary School Ely  27/05/2020 Irene Humphries  
Ysgol Glan Morfa Splott 22/06/2020   
Ysgol Gymraeg Treganna Canton  27/05/2020  Manon George 
Ysgol Y Wern Llanishen  27/05/2020 Margaret Kemp  
     

 
 
 

 

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
CARDIFF COUNCIL  
 
 

COUNCIL:                           21 MAY 2020
  
 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF GOVERNANCE & LEGAL SERVICES  
  

          
 

COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS  
 

Reason for Report 
 

1. To receive nominations and make appointments to current committee vacancies as 
set out in the report and in accordance with the approved allocation of seats and 
political group wishes.  

  
Background 
 
2. The Annual Council 23 May 2019 established the Committees and Panels of the 

Council and their composition.  The seats allocated to political groups on each 
committee were calculated in accordance with political balance, and nominations 
were received for each committee from the political groups. 
 

3. In accordance with the Welsh Audit Office Statement of Action P3b (report March 
2016), Membership of Committees is a standing item on monthly Group Whips 
meetings and Full Council, as appropriate.  

 
Issues  
 
4. The Annual Council 23 May 2019 received nominations to committee seats.  Not all 

seats were filled and the vacancies that remain are as follows:   
 

Committee  Vacancy  Group  

Audit Committee 
 

1 vacancies 1 x Labour 

Corporate Parenting 
Advisory Committee  
 

1 vacancies 1 x Welsh National Party 

Licensing Committee  1 vacancy  
 

1 x Conservative  

Public Protection  
 

2 vacancies 1 x Conservative  
1 x Welsh National Party 
 

Policy Review & 
Performance Scrutiny 

1 vacancies 1 x Welsh National Party 
 

Community and Adult 
Services Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 

1 vacancy 1 x Labour 

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 11



 
5. Further nominations to fill existing vacancies received from political groups prior to 

Full Council on 21 May will be reported on the amendment sheet. 
 

Legal Implications 
 
6. The Council is under a duty to make appointments to Committees, in accordance 

with the approved allocation of seats to political groups, so as to give effect to the 
wishes of the political groups (pursuant to Section 16 of the 1989 Act). 
 
 

Financial Implications 
 
7. There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Council is recommended to appoint to the vacancies on Committees in accordance 
with the approved allocation of seats and Party Group wishes, as set out on the 
Amendment Sheet.  
 
DAVINA FIORE 
Director Governance and Legal Services  
15 May 2020 
 
Background Papers 
Annual Council Reports and Minutes 23 May 2019 
Report and Minutes of Council 20 June 2019 
Report and Minutes of Council 18 July 2019  

Page 84


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Governance Arrangements during Covid-19 Crisis
	Ag Item 5 Appendix A - EIA

	6 Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor Elect
	7 Statement of the Leader in relation to Covid 19
	9 Decisions where Call in has been disapplied
	REGISTER OF DECISIONS TAKEN BY OFFICERS ON
	SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM
	2019/2020 No 30

	10 Appointment of Local Authority School Governors
	CARDIFF COUNCIL
	CYNGOR CAERDYDD
	APPOINTMENT OF LOCAL AUTHORITY GOVERNORS TO SCHOOL GOVERNING BODIES
	Reason for this Report
	Ag Item 10, Appendix 1

	11 Committee Appointments

